
For the best experience, open this PDF portfolio in
 
Acrobat X or Adobe Reader X, or later.
 

Get Adobe Reader Now! 

http://www.adobe.com/go/reader




 


1. Call to order 
2. Roll call and verification of quorum 
3. Certification and compliance with open meetings law 
4. Public comment 
5. Communications 


a. Organizational meeting correspondence – Ehlers 
b. Notice of public hearing 


6. Re-appointment of Sarah Ebert as public member of the Joint Review Board 
7. Election of chair and vice-chair of the Joint Review Board 
8. Review responsibilities of the Joint Review Board 
9. Review and discuss draft project plan – Tax Incremental District (TID) No. 6. 
10. Review Annual PE-300 Reports and the performance and status of the City’s active Tax 


Incremental Districts as required by Wis. Stat. §66.1105(4m)(f) 
11. Acceptance of Consolidated Tax Incremental Districts No. 4, No. 5, No. 6, No. 7, No. 8, and 


No. 9 Financial Statements dated 12-31-2022 as prepared by Baker Tilly US, LLP (audit 
opinion dated 06-22-2023) 


12. Acceptance of Tax Incremental District No. 4 100% Compliance Audit dated 12-31-2021 
(audit opinion dated 11-30-2022) 


13. Acceptance of Tax Incremental District No. 7 30% Compliance Audit dated 12-31-2020 
(audit opinion dated 11-30-2022) 


14. Approval of May 5, 2022 minutes 
15. Set next meeting date to consider approval of the amendment to TID No. 6 
16. Adjourn 
 


     Any person wishing to attend the meeting, whom because of a disability, requires special 
accommodation, should contact the Director of Finance’s office at (608) 873-6691 at least 24 hours before 
the scheduled meeting time so appropriate arrangements can be made.  


 
OFFICIAL NOTICE AND AGENDA  


Notice is hereby given that the Joint Review Board of the City of Stoughton, Wisconsin will hold a 
regular or special meeting as indicated on the date, time and location given below. 


 


 


Meeting of the: 


Date & time: 


 
Joint Review Board of the City of Stoughton 
Monday, September 11, 2023 at 2:00 p.m. 
 
The meeting of the Joint Review Board will be conducted as a hybrid meeting 
In person:  City Hall conference room (207 S. Forrest St.) 
Virtual:  You can attend the meeting from your computer, tablet, or smartphone via Zoom 
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/81367103849?pwd=SWhxSEdaSWYzRlNWd2VCczZYUk10UT09 
Meeting ID: 813 6710 3849 Passcode: 833547 
One tap mobile +13052241968,,81367103849#,,,,*833547# US  
 
Members:   Sarah Ebert (public member), Adam Gallagher (Dane County), Dan Keyser (Stoughton Area 
School District), Sylvia Ramirez (Madison Area Technical College), and Tim Swadley (Mayor, City of 
Stoughton) 


 Tax Incremental District No. 6 and Annual Tax Incremental District Update Meeting 







     In addition, any person wishing to speak or have their comments heard but does not have access to the 
internet should also contact the Director of Finance’s office at the number above at least 24 hours before 
the scheduled meeting so appropriate arrangements can be made.  


 
NOTE:  AN EXPANDED MEETING MAY CONSTITUTE A QUORUM OF THE COUNCIL 








    
August 22, 2023 
 
 


Joe Parisi, Dane County Executive 
Adam Gallagher, Dane County Treasurer  
& JRB Member 


Mayor Tim Swadley, City JRB 
Member 
 
 
Sarah Ebert, Public JRB Member 
 
 


Dr. Jack E. Daniels, III, President 
Sylvia Ramirez, Vice President of 
Administration & JRB Member 
Madison Area Technical College District 
 


Dan Keyser, District Administrator 
& JRB Member 
Stoughton Area School District 
 


 
 
RE: City of Stoughton  
 
 
 
A meeting to organize a Joint Review Board (“JRB”) for the City’s proposed 
amendment of Tax Incremental District No. 6 (“District”) will be held at 2:00 PM on 
September 11, 2023. 
 
The meeting will be held at the Stoughton City Hall, located at 207 S. Forrest Street. 
You may also attend the meeting remotely, if you prefer, using the following 
information: 
 
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/81367103849?pwd=SWhxSEdaSWYzRlNWd2VCczZYUk10
UT09 
 
Meeting ID: 813 6710 3849 
Passcode: 833547 
  
At this meeting, the JRB will be asked to appoint a chair and public member, and to 
set an additional meeting date or dates. City staff will also review the draft Project Plan 
Amendment.  
 
This meeting will also serve as the JRB’s required Annual Meeting at which it will review 
the City’s annual tax increment financing reports, and the performance and status of 
each district governed by the JRB.  The City will provide you with the documents. 
 
As a quorum must be achieved for the City to proceed, we would ask that you ensure 
the availability of your appointee to attend. 
 
 
  



https://us06web.zoom.us/j/81367103849?pwd=SWhxSEdaSWYzRlNWd2VCczZYUk10UT09

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/81367103849?pwd=SWhxSEdaSWYzRlNWd2VCczZYUk10UT09





We’ve attached the following documents that will be mailed & e-mailed to you: 


• The draft meeting agenda. 


• A copy of the legal notice published for the JRB meeting and public hearing. 


 
A copy of the draft Project Plan will be e-mailed to you. 
 
At a subsequent meeting the JRB will be asked to approve the resolution to be 
adopted by the City amending the District. In considering approval, the JRB will review 
the public record, planning documents and the resolutions adopted by the City's Plan 
Commission and City Council. Its decision, by majority vote, must be made within 45 
days of receipt of the adopted City Council resolution and is to be based on the 
following criteria specified in Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(4m)(c)1.: 
 


1. Whether the development expected in the tax incremental district would occur 
without the use of tax incremental financing. 


 
2. Whether the economic benefits of the tax incremental district, as measured by 


increased employment, business and personal income and property value, are 
insufficient to compensate for the cost of the improvements. 


 
3. Whether the benefits of the proposal outweigh the anticipated tax increments 


to be paid by the owners of property in the overlying taxing jurisdictions. 
 
If the JRB does not approve amendment of the District it must issue a written 
explanation describing why it fails to meet one or more of these criteria. 
 
If you have questions regarding the meeting or attached materials, please contact us 
at 800-552-1171. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
EHLERS 
 
David Ferris 
Senior Municipal Advisor  
 
cc: Candee Christen, Clerk, City of Stoughton 
 Dave Ehlinger, Director of Finance/Comptroller, City of Stoughton 
 Rodney Scheel, Director of Planning, City of Stoughton 


Matt Dregne, City Attorney 
Rick Manthe, City Attorney 


 Jill Spilde, Executive Assistant, Madison Area Technical College 
 Erica Pickett, Director of Business Services, Stoughton Area School District 
 Philip Cosson, Senior Municipal Advisor, Ehlers 
  Paula Czaplewski, Senior Public Finance Analyst - TIF, Ehlers 
  Annie Mallon, Senior Public Finance Analyst, Ehlers







 


 
 
 


 


Rodney Scheel 
City Director of Planning 


City of Stoughton 
207 S. Forrest Street 


Stoughton, WI 53589  


Candee Christen 
Clerk 


City of Stoughton 
207 S. Forrest Street 
Stoughton, WI 53589 


Dave Ehlinger 
City Director of Finance/Comptroller 


City of Stoughton 
207 S. Forrest Street 
Stoughton, WI 53589 


 


Sara Ebert 
City of Stoughton 


207 S. Forrest Street 
Stoughton, WI 53589  


Mayor Tim Swadley 
City of Stoughton 


207 S. Forrest Street 
Stoughton, WI 53589 


Jack Daniels III, President 
Madison Area Technical College District 


1701 Wright Street 
Madison, WI   53704 


 
 


Dan Keyser,  
District Administrator 


c/o School Board President 
Stoughton Area School District 


320 North Street 
Stoughton, WI   53589 


 
 


 


Joe Parisi, County Executive  
Dane County 


210 Martin Luther King Blvd. 
Madison, WI   53703 


 


Sylvia Ramirez, Vice President of Administration 
Madison Area Technical College District 


1701 Wright Street 
Madison, WI   53704 


 


 


 
 


Erica Pickett 
Director of Business Services 


Stoughton Area School District 
320 North Street 


Stoughton, WI   53589 
 
 


 


Adam Gallagher 
Treasurer 


Dane County 
210 Martin Luther King Blvd. 


Madison, WI   53703 
 


Jill Spilde 
Executive Assistant 


Madison Area Technical College 
1701 Wright Street 


Madison, WI   53704 
 


Attorney Matt Dregne 
c/o City of Stoughton 
Stafford Rosenbaum 


222 West Washington Avenue 
Madison, WI  53703 


Attorney Rick Manthe 
c/o City of Stoughton 
Stafford Rosenbaum 


222 West Washington Avenue 
Madison, WI  53703 








 


 


 
NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 


AND JOINT REVIEW BOARD MEETING 
CITY OF STOUGHTON, WISCONSIN 


 
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the City of Stoughton will hold a Joint Review Board 
meeting on September 11, 2023 at 2:00 PM. 
 
The meeting will be held at the Stoughton City Hall, located at 207 S. Forrest Street. 
You may also attend the meeting remotely, if you prefer, using the following 
information: 
 
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/81367103849?pwd=SWhxSEdaSWYzRlNWd2VCczZYUk10
UT09 
 
Meeting ID: 813 6710 3849 
Passcode: 833547 
 
The purpose of the meeting is to organize the Joint Review Board for consideration of 
the City’s proposal to amend Tax Incremental District No. 6. 
 
The Joint Review Board will also review the annual reports and the performance and 
status of each Tax Incremental District governed by the Joint Review Board as 
required by Wis. Stat. § 66.1105(4m)(f). 


 
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN 
that the Plan Commission of 
the City of Stoughton will 
hold a public hearing on 
September 11, 2023 at 6:00 
PM. 
 
The meeting will be held in 
the Council Chambers, 
located on the second floor 
of the Public Safety Building,  
321 S. Fourth Street. You 
may also attend the meeting 
remotely, if you prefer, using 
the following information:  
 


https://us06web.zoom.us/j/89360767883?pwd=OS9tRDZFQ2gzNnIwVk1jS3lMZ09B
UT09 
 
Meeting ID: 893 6076 7883 
Passcode: 068512 
 



https://us06web.zoom.us/j/81367103849?pwd=SWhxSEdaSWYzRlNWd2VCczZYUk10UT09

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/81367103849?pwd=SWhxSEdaSWYzRlNWd2VCczZYUk10UT09

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/89360767883?pwd=OS9tRDZFQ2gzNnIwVk1jS3lMZ09BUT09

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/89360767883?pwd=OS9tRDZFQ2gzNnIwVk1jS3lMZ09BUT09





 


 


The hearing will be held to provide the public a reasonable opportunity to comment 
on the proposed amended boundaries of Tax Incremental District No. 6, and the 
proposed amendments to its Project Plan.  
 
The proposed amendment would add territory to the District as permitted under 
Wisconsin Statutes Section 66.1105(4)(h)2. The District’s proposed amended 
boundary is identified on the map included in this Notice.  
 
Based on the condition of properties within its boundaries at time of creation, territory 
within the District was previously identified as suitable for industrial development. 
 
Projects to be undertaken within the District and costs to be incurred (Project Costs) 
will continue to be for the purpose of promoting industrial development  and may 
include acquisition of property, rights of way or easements, site preparation, 
installation or rehabilitation of utilities and streets, payment of cash grants as 
development incentives to owners, lessees, or developers of land located within the 
District*, professional services and organizational costs, administrative costs, financing 
costs and other costs as may be necessary to implement the District’s Project Plan. 
Projects will be undertaken within the District’s proposed boundary and in areas 
located in the City within ½ mile of that boundary. 
 
As permitted under Wisconsin Statutes Section 66.1105(4)(h)1., the list of estimated 
Project Costs in the current Project Plan would be increased by approximately 
$4,230,500. 
 
All interested parties will be given a reasonable opportunity to comment on the  
proposed amended boundaries of the District and the proposed amendments to its 
Project Plan. A copy of the proposed amendment to the District’s Project Plan, 
including a description of the proposed amended boundary, is available for public 
inspection and will be provided on request during normal business hours at the office 
of the City Clerk at the Stoughton City Hall, located at 207 S. Forrest Street. This 
information can also be viewed on the City’s website at www.cityofstoughton.com. 
 


By Order of the City of Stoughton, Wisconsin 
 


Published August 31, 2023 
 



https://nam10.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.cityofstoughton.com%2F&data=05%7C01%7Cpczaplewski%40ehlers-inc.com%7Cf8ac82afb9234769ff5308db9cfcf0a0%7C71c01b83561e4863a9870b04d2e359b9%7C1%7C0%7C638276382426133671%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=mc2m7tAqYhJXS6vcefeI%2BH5dUB9ZrJBuGyW9HvDn4P8%3D&reserved=0










 


Tax Incremental  


Financing Manual


(R. 11-22)







Back to table of contents 26


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


3.  Complete the TID Final Audit (sec. 66.1105(6m)(b), Wis. Stats.)


Municipality must:
• Have a Certified Public Accountant (CPA) complete the final audit for all revenue and expenditures during the 


TID life
• Save a copy of the audit in its TID records and does not need to submit a copy to DOR


4.   E-file the TID Final Accounting Report (PE-110) (sec. 66.1105(8)(c), Wis. Stats.)


• Before the termination is final, the municipality must electronically file (e-file) the Final TID Accounting Report  
(Form PE-110) using MyDORGov 


• TID Final Accounting Report (Form PE-110) is due to DOR based on the date agreed upon between the 
municipality and DOR on the Final Accounting Submission Date Agreement (Form PE-223)


• TID Final Account Report (Form PE-110) includes total expenditures and revenue during the TID life based on 
the final audit


If a municipality does not e-file this report within the specified timeframe, it will delay the certification of future TIDs. 
For more details on termination reporting, review (sec. 66.1105(8)(c), Wis. Stats.).


Final Accounting Report must show either:
• Increment revenue paid all project costs and the TID account has a surplus. The municipality must return the 


excess increments to the overlying taxing jurisdictions in proportion to the amounts that belong to each taxing 
jurisdiction.  


• Increment revenue did not cover the project costs and the TID account has a deficit. The municipality is 
responsible for paying the remaining debt.


The final TID account balance must be zero either after the surplus is distributed or after the municipality pays the 
remaining debt.


III.  Joint Review Board (JRB)


A. JRB Purpose


State law requires a JRB to oversee each Tax Incremental District (TID). State law defines its members and 
responsibilities. JRB members represent a taxing jurisdiction (municipality, county, school, technical college). It is the 
JRB’s responsibility to approve or deny the creation or amendment of a TID. When the JRB approves a TID, it agrees 
the development needs Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) to proceed. The JRB jurisdictions agree to sacrifice some 
amount of tax revenue for years into the future expecting the tax base will ultimately increase.


B.  JRB Members 


The JRB consists of one representative from each taxation jurisdiction (school district, technical college, county, 
municipality), and one public member. 


District representatives
• School – the school board president, or their designee with preference to the school district’s finance 


director. If the TID is located in a union high school district, the school seat is shared by the union high school 
representative and school district representative; each having one-half vote.


• Technical college – the technical college district director, or their designee with preference to the district’s 
chief financial officer


• County – the county executive or the county board chairperson, or this person’s designee with preference to 
the county treasurer







Back to table of contents 27


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


• City/village/town – the mayor or city manager, the village board president, town board chairperson or their 
designee with preference to the person who administers the economic development programs, the municipal 
treasurer or another person with knowledge of local government finances


• Public member – a majority of the other members chooses the public member at the JRB’s first meeting. State 
law has no requirements for the public member. A public member can be appointed as chairperson. For a 
multijurisdictional TID, each participating municipality may appoint one public member.


If more than one school, union high school, technical college or county district has the power to levy taxes on the 
property within the TID, the district with the greatest value chooses the representative to the JRB.


Examples:


• School District "A" serves 75% of the area in the TID, but only has 40% of the TID value. School District "B" serves 
25% of the area in the TID but has 60% of the TID value. District "B" chooses the JRB member.


• In the case of a territory amendment, if adding property from one county to an existing TID in a different 
county, the county with the majority value chooses the JRB member. The calculation to determine majority 
value is the existing base value plus the additional parcels' current value.  


C.  JRB Procedures


1.  Organize the JRB 
• When creating a TID, the municipality must send the overlying taxing districts a letter with a copy of the public 


hearing notice (by first class mail before the notice is published) to request a representative serve on the JRB
• Within 14 days after the public hearing notice is published and before the public hearing, all JRB members 


must be appointed and the first organizational meeting held. At the organizational meeting, the members 
must select a public member and chairperson by majority vote. They may also review details of the TID 
proposal. Note: For any TID amendment, state law requires an initial JRB meeting before the public hearing


• Any JRB member may request additional JRB meetings or public hearings 
• At all JRB meetings, one of the members must take minutes and record votes. The municipality must keep the 


minutes in the TID records. 
• The municipality must publish a notice for any JRB meeting at least five days before the meeting, under state 


law (ch. 985 and sec. 66.1105(4m)(e), Wis. Stats.). This does not apply to town TIDs created under sec. 60.85, Wis. 
Stats. or Environmental Remediation TIDs created under sec. 66.1106, Wis. Stats. 


2.  Approve or deny the resolution


•  After receiving the municipal resolution, the JRB must meet again to vote on the resolution:
»  Within 45 days – City/Village TIDs created under sec. 66.1105, Wis. Stats. 
» Between 10 days and 45 days – Town TIDs created under sec. 60.85, Wis. Stats. or Environmental 


Remediation TIDs created under sec. 66.1106, Wis. Stats.
• The JRB adopts its own resolution to document its decision based on the three criteria required in state law  


3.  Respond to municipality
• JRB must respond to municipal officials within seven days of its decision
• If the JRB rejects a resolution, the JRB must explain in writing why the proposal did not meet the decision criteria







Back to table of contents 28


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


D.  JRB Document Review 


The municipality must provide the JRB with specific information under state law (secs. 66.1105(4)(i) and 60.85(3)
(k), Wis. Stats.). JRB members may request missing or additional information.


1.  Required information the municipality must provide 
• Specific projects and costs, including the amounts expected to be paid by tax increments and the estimated 


tax increments over the life of the TID
• Value increment after project costs are paid and the TID terminates
• Reasons why the property owners benefitting from the improvements within the TID should not pay the project costs
• Share of the projected tax increments estimated to be paid by the property owners in each of the overlying 


taxing jurisdictions
• Benefits the taxpayers will receive to compensate for their share of the projected tax increments


2.  Additional information the JRB must review (sec. 66.1105(4m)(b)1., Wis. Stats.)
• Public records – copies of the public hearing minutes and notices
• Planning documents – copies of the project plan and signed development agreement, if applicable
• Resolutions – copies of the Planning Commission and municipal resolutions


3.  Additional information the JRB may request


• Economic feasibility study – detailing the projected tax increments and estimates of increased property values
• For multijurisdictional TIDs – copy of the signed intergovernmental agreement created under state law  


(sec. 66.0301, Wis. Stats.). The agreement must provide the specific information listed in sec. 66.1105(18)(b), Wis. Stats.


E.  JRB Decision Criteria


The JRB must make a decision based on the documents and information provided by the municipality and three 
criteria found in state law (secs. 66.1105(4m)(c), 66.1106(3)(c), and 60.85(4)(c), Wis. Stats.). The JRB must determine 
whether the:
1. Development expected in the TID would occur without the use of TIF ("but for" requirement)
2. Economic benefits of the TID, as measured by increased employment, business and personal income and 


property value, are sufficient to compensate for the cost of the improvements
3. Benefits of the proposal outweigh the anticipated tax increments to be paid by the property owners in the 


overlying taxing jurisdictions


Each criterion is important to ensure the TIF project is beneficial for all taxpayers in the overlying taxing 
jurisdictions. Many consider the first criterion, the "but for" requirement, the most important. "But for" gets its 
name from the phrase, "This development would not happen but for the financial support of TIF." This means the 
project is not economically viable without the use of TIF to pay for the infrastructure improvements. Review But 
for Requirement for more information.


Questions to consider
1. Would the expected development occur without ("but for") the use of TIF? Would the development occur if the 


project was scaled back or the timeframe pushed out? Did similar projects proceed without the use of TIF?
2. Will the development’s economic benefits measured by increased employment, business and personal income 


and property value, compensate for the cost of the improvements?
3. Do the benefits outweigh the taxes residents of overlying districts are expected to pay?
4. How does the planned development fit into the overall economic picture in the district? How does the 


development fit with other development in the district? Will the potential businesses benefit the district in the 
long term? How many and what type of jobs will this development create?







Back to table of contents 29


Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) Manual


Wisconsin Department of Revenue


5. How does the TID benefit taxpayers in my district? Is the total expenditure for eligible project costs feasible?  
6. Is there a better use for the development site, the tax revenue and the limited TIF capacity?
7. What is the general opinion of my district’s residents on this TID?
8. How will the planned development affect the demand for services in my district?  Consider items such as:  


increased population, traffic impact, fire and police protection, emergency medical services, water, sewer, 
administrative services, increased student population, demand for training or housing. 


9. Is the developer receiving a subsidy, such as a cash grant, incentive or forgivable loan? If so, how was the need 
and benefit analyzed? Is there a written developer’s agreement? Was the public informed of the developer’s 
subsidy in the published hearing notice?  


10. What guarantees are in place to ensure the development will occur as anticipated and the property value will 
increase as expected?


F.  DOR Review Procedure


Under state law (sec. 66.1105(4m)(b)4., Wis. Stats.), the JRB may request DOR review the facts contained in the 
documents listed in Additional information the JRB must review.


1.  To request a DOR review
•  Majority of the JRB members must support the request
•  JRB must submit a written request to DOR and must specify which fact or item the members believe is 


inaccurate or incomplete
• Review JRB Request for DOR Review for more information


2.  DOR review
•  Within 10 working days of receiving a request for review that complies with the filing requirements, DOR will 


investigate the issues raised and send a written response to the JRB
• If DOR determines the information does not comply with state law or contains a factual inaccuracy, the JRB may 


request (but may not require) that the municipality correct and resubmit the proposal for review
»  If the municipality resubmits the proposal – the JRB must vote to approve or reject based on the criteria 


in state law. The JRB must submit its decision to the municipality within 10 working days after receiving the 
resubmitted proposal. 


»  If the municipality does not resubmit the proposal – the TID is not certified  
• If DOR does not identify any factual inaccuracies, the JRB must vote to approve or reject as otherwise specified in 


state law. The JRB must submit its decision to the municipality within 10 working days of receiving DOR’s written 
response.


G.  After the JRB approves a TID 


• Municipality sends DOR a request to certify the TID and includes all the required documents. If DOR determines 
procedures were followed, DOR will email the municipality a certification letter.    


• While the TID is active, the JRB must meet yearly to review the annual performance and status of the TID based 
on the annual report (secs. 60.85(4)(d), 66.1105(4m)(f ) and 66.1106(3)(e), Wis. Stats.)








 


       
 


 


 


 


 


 







 


Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers   Page | 2 


 


 







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 3 
 


 


 


 


 


 







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 4 
 


 


 


 







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 5 
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 6 
 


 







 


Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers   Page | 7 


 







 


Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 8 


 







 


Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 9 







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 10 
 







 


Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 11 


 


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 6


Base Property Information
Comments


Parcel Number Street Address Owner Acreage


Annexed 
Post 


1/1/04?   
...Indicate 


date


Part of Existing 
TID?    …Indicate 


TID #


Land Imp Total


Equalized 
Value 
Ratio Land Imp Total


ROW Areas 1.800
061132491002 1800 WILLIAMS DRIVE EMMI ROTH USA INC 18.013 44,677.00 No 4,700 0 4,700 97.09% 4,841 0 4,841 Vacant farmland permitted for development Class 3


Total Acreage 19.813 4,700 0 4,700 4,841 0


The above values are as of January 1, 2022.   Actual base value certification of the territory will be based on January 1, 2023 assessed values. Estimated Base Value 4,841


Assessment Roll 
Classification?       


(Residential = Class 1, 
Commercial = Class 2, 


Manufacturing = Class 3, Ag = 
Class 4 , Undeveloped = Class 


5, Ag Forest = Class 5M, Forest 
= Class 6, Other = Class 7 & 


Exempt = X)


Property Information Assessment Information Equalized Value


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 6


Amended Parcel Listing and Conditions
Property Condition


Parcel Number Street Address Owner Acreage Description


Original Project Plan
061132492402 1600 Williams Drive Marquis Star Holding, Inc. 10.114 Developed
061132492952 No address City of Stoughton 2.403 Stormpond
061132493652 521 Glacier Moraine Drive City of Stoughton 4.431 Vacant
061132498902 441 Glacier Moraine Drive GIP - Glacier Moraine, LLC 4.430 Developed
061132498652 431 Glacier Moraine Drive City of Stoughton 1.990 Vacant
061132498402 421 Glacier Moraine Drive American Beauty Investments, LLC 3.500 Developed
061132499252 1520 Progress Lane City of Stoughton 4.320 Stormpond


ROW Williams Drive City of Stoughton 4.635
Total Original Project Plan 35.823


Parcels Added
ROW Williams Drive City of Stoughton 1.800


61132491002 1800 Williams Drive Emmi Roth USA, Inc. 18.013 Under construction
Total Parcels Added 19.813


Total Acreage 55.636


Property Information







 


Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 12 


 


 


District Creation Date 9/29/2015


Valuation Data
Currently Available


2023
Total EV (TID In) 1,787,763,800


12% Test 214,531,656


Increment of Existing TIDs
11,960,700


5,326,900
8,286,700


51,115,900
2,812,000
4,022,700


Total Existing Increment 83,524,900


Projected Base of Amended District 4,841


Total Value Subject to 12% Test 83,529,741


Compliance PASS


TID #9


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 6


Valuation Test Compliance Calculation


TID #5
TID #6
TID #7
TID #8


TID #4







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 13 
 


 







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 14 
 


. 







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 15 
 







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 16 
 







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 17 
 







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 18 
 







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 19 
 







 


Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 20 


 







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 21 
 


 







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 22 
 


 







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 23 
 







 


Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 24 


 


Project 1/2 Mile Percentage TID Non TID
Year Projects in 1/2 Mile Amount Costs


Project ID Project Name/Type See Note 1


1 Development Grant TBD No 0% 3,500,000
2 Business Park Rail Spur Improvements 2023 - 2025 Yes 100% 180,000 720,000
3 Business Park Master Planning 2024 No NA 50,000
4 TID Administration 2024 - 2034 No NA 250,000
5 TID Planning, Creation & Amendment 2022 - 2023 No NA 50,000
6 Payment to Town of Pleasant Springs 2023 - 2028 No NA 500
7 Workforce Housing Initiatives TBD No NA 200,000


Total Projects 4,230,500 720,000


Notes:
Note 1 Project costs are estimates and are subject to modification


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 6


Estimated Project List







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 25 
 


 


 


  







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 26 
 


 


 


  


Actual
Emmi Roth 


Phase I
Annual Total


6 2020 3,191,400 3,191,400 2020 6
7 2021 994,900 994,900 2021 7
8 2022 1,716,000 1,716,000 2022 8
9 2023 0 2023 9


10 2024 0 2024 10
11 2025 0 2025 11
12 2026 0 2026 12
13 2027 0 2027 13
14 2028 0 2028 14
15 2029 0 2029 15
16 2030 0 2030 16
17 2031 0 2031 17
18 2032 0 2032 18
19 2033 0 2033 19
20 2034 0 2034 20
21 2035 0 2035 21
22 2036 0 2036 22
23 2037 0 2037 23


Totals 5,902,300 0 5,902,300


Notes:


Construction Year Construction Year


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 6


Development Assumptions







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 27 
 


 


 


  


Actual
Emmi Roth 


Phase I
Annual Total


6 2020 3,191,400 3,191,400 2020 6
7 2021 994,900 994,900 2021 7
8 2022 1,716,000 1,716,000 2022 8
9 2023 29,266,800 29,266,800 2023 9


10 2024 0 2024 10
11 2025 0 2025 11
12 2026 0 2026 12
13 2027 0 2027 13
14 2028 0 2028 14
15 2029 0 2029 15
16 2030 0 2030 16
17 2031 0 2031 17
18 2032 0 2032 18
19 2033 0 2033 19
20 2034 0 2034 20


Totals 5,902,300 29,266,800 35,169,100


Notes:


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 6


Development Assumptions


Construction Year Construction Year







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 28 
 


 


  


Type of District Base Value 14,841
District Creation Date Appreciation Factor 0.50%


Valuation Date Jan 1, 2015 Base Tax Rate $20.00
Max Life (Years) Rate Adjustment Factor 0.00%


Expenditure Period/Termination 15 9/29/2030
Revenue Periods/Final Year 20 2036


Extension Eligibility/Years Yes 3
Eligible Recipient District


Construction 
Year Value Added Valuation Year


Inflation 
Increment


Total 
Increment Revenue Year Tax Rate Tax Increment


6 2020 3,191,400 2021 0 3,191,400 2022 $20.64 65,877
7 2021 994,900 2022 0 4,186,300 2023 $18.04 75,532
8 2022 1,716,000 2023 0 5,902,300 2024 $16.54 97,639
9 2023 0 2024 29,512 5,931,812 2025 $16.54 98,127


10 2024 0 2025 29,659 5,961,471 2026 $16.54 98,618
11 2025 0 2026 29,807 5,991,278 2027 $16.54 99,111
12 2026 0 2027 29,956 6,021,234 2028 $16.54 99,607
13 2027 0 2028 30,106 6,051,340 2029 $16.54 100,105
14 2028 0 2029 30,257 6,081,597 2030 $16.54 100,605
15 2029 0 2030 30,408 6,112,005 2031 $16.54 101,108
16 2030 0 2031 30,560 6,142,565 2032 $16.54 101,614
17 2031 0 2032 30,713 6,173,278 2033 $16.54 102,122
18 2032 0 2033 30,866 6,204,144 2034 $16.54 102,632
19 2033 0 2034 31,021 6,235,165 2035 $16.54 103,146
20 2034 0 2035 31,176 6,266,341 2036 $16.54 103,661
21 2035 0 2036 31,332 6,297,673 2037 $16.54 104,180
22 2036 0 2037 31,488 6,329,161 2038 $16.54 104,701
23 2037 0 2038 31,646 6,360,807 2039 $16.54 105,224


Totals 5,902,300 458,507 Future Value of Increment 1,763,609


Notes:
Actual results will vary depending on development, inflation of overall tax rates.


- 3 Year Extension


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 6


Tax Increment Projection Worksheet


Industrial
September 29, 2015


20


No







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 29 
 


 


  


Type of District Base Value 14,841
District Creation Date Appreciation Factor 0.50%


Valuation Date Jan 1, 2015 Base Tax Rate $20.00
Max Life (Years) Rate Adjustment Factor 0.00%


Expenditure Period/Termination 15 9/29/2030
Revenue Periods/Final Year 20 2036


Extension Eligibility/Years Yes 3
Eligible Recipient District


Construction 
Year Value Added Valuation Year


Inflation 
Increment


Total 
Increment Revenue Year Tax Rate Tax Increment


6 2020 3,191,400 2021 0 3,191,400 2022 $20.64 65,877
7 2021 994,900 2022 0 4,186,300 2023 $18.04 75,532
8 2022 1,716,000 2023 0 5,902,300 2024 $16.54 97,639
9 2023 29,266,800 2024 29,512 35,198,612 2025 $16.54 582,275


10 2024 0 2025 175,993 35,374,605 2026 $16.54 585,186
11 2025 0 2026 176,873 35,551,478 2027 $16.54 588,112
12 2026 0 2027 177,757 35,729,235 2028 $16.54 591,053
13 2027 0 2028 178,646 35,907,881 2029 $16.54 594,008
14 2028 0 2029 179,539 36,087,421 2030 $16.54 596,978
15 2029 0 2030 180,437 36,267,858 2031 $16.54 599,963
16 2030 0 2031 181,339 36,449,197 2032 $16.54 602,963
17 2031 0 2032 182,246 36,631,443 2033 $16.54 605,978
18 2032 0 2033 183,157 36,814,600 2034 $16.54 609,008
19 2033 0 2034 184,073 36,998,673 2035 $16.54 612,053
20 2034 0 2035 184,993 37,183,667 2036 $16.54 615,113


Totals 35,169,100 2,014,567 Future Value of Increment 7,421,738


Notes:
Actual results will vary depending on development, inflation of overall tax rates.


20


No


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 6


Tax Increment Projection Worksheet


Industrial
September 29, 2015







 


Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 30 


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 6


Cash Flow Projection


Year
Total Debt Service


Principal Interest Total Year
2022 65,877 4,304 35,000 6,277 111,458 341,379 78,234 419,613 17,026 150 436,789 (325,331) 186,096 2,591,552 2022
2023 75,532 5,583 81,115 350,345 68,109 418,454 150,000 568,454 (487,339) (301,243) 2,241,207 2023
2024 97,639 (9,037) 88,602 363,793 56,737 420,530 420,530 (331,928) (633,171) 1,877,414 2024
2025 98,127 (18,995) 79,132 377,759 44,263 422,022 422,022 (342,890) (976,061) 1,499,655 2025
2026 98,618 (29,282) 69,336 391,207 31,528 422,735 422,735 (353,399) (1,329,460) 1,108,448 2026
2027 99,111 (39,884) 59,227 400,172 20,705 420,877 420,877 (361,650) (1,691,110) 708,276 2027
2028 99,607 (50,733) 48,874 349,655 12,451 362,106 362,106 (313,232) (2,004,342) 358,621 2028
2029 100,105 (60,130) 39,975 358,621 4,259 362,880 362,880 (322,905) (2,327,247) 0 2029
2030 100,605 (69,817) 30,788 0 0 0 0 30,788 (2,296,459) 0 2030
2031 101,108 (68,894) 32,214 0 0 0 0 32,214 (2,264,245) 0 2031
2032 101,614 (67,927) 33,687 0 0 0 0 33,687 (2,230,558) 0 2032
2033 102,122 (66,917) 35,205 0 0 0 0 35,205 (2,195,353) 0 2033
2034 102,632 (65,861) 36,771 0 0 0 0 36,771 (2,158,582) 0 2034
2035 103,146 (64,757) 38,389 0 0 0 0 38,389 (2,120,193) 0 2035
2036 103,661 (63,606) 40,055 0 0 0 0 40,055 (2,080,138) 0 2036
2037 104,180 (62,404) 41,776 0 0 0 0 41,776 (2,038,362) 0 2037
2038 104,701 (61,151) 43,550 0 0 0 0 43,550 (1,994,812) 0 2038
2039 105,224 (59,844) 45,380 0 0 0 0 45,380 (1,949,432) 0 2039
Total 1,763,609 (849,352) 35,000 6,277 955,534 2,932,931 316,286 3,249,217 150,000 17,026 150 3,416,393 Total


Notes: - Proposed 3 Year Extension Projected Year of Closure


Projected Revenues


Tax 
Increments


Interest 
Earnings/ 


(Cost)
Other 


Revenue
Total 


Revenues
Developer 
Guarantee Cumulative


Principal 
Outstanding


Balances


Capital
Professional 


Services Admin.


Expenditures


Total 
Expenditures Annual







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 31 
 


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Tax Increment District No. 6


Cash Flow Projection


Year
Total Debt Service


Principal Interest Total Year
2022 65,877 4,304 35,000 6,277 111,458 341,379 78,235 419,613 17,026 150 436,789 (325,331) 186,096 2,591,552 2022
2023 75,532 5,583 81,115 350,345 68,109 418,454 150,000 75,000 643,454 (562,339) (376,243) 2,241,207 2023
2024 97,639 (11,287) 86,352 363,793 56,737 420,530 50,000 100 25,000 495,630 (409,278) (785,521) 1,877,414 2024
2025 582,275 (23,566) 180,000 738,709 377,759 44,263 422,022 180,000 100 25,000 627,122 111,587 (673,934) 1,499,655 2025
2026 585,186 (20,218) 564,968 416,207 40,628 456,835 100 25,000 481,935 83,033 (590,901) 1,108,448 2026
2027 588,112 (17,727) 570,385 425,172 26,405 451,577 100 25,000 476,677 93,708 (497,193) 708,276 2027
2028 591,053 (14,916) 576,137 374,655 17,151 391,806 100 25,000 416,906 159,231 (337,962) 358,621 2028
2029 594,008 (10,139) 583,869 383,621 7,959 391,580 25,000 416,580 167,289 (170,673) 0 2029
2030 596,978 (5,120) 591,858 25,000 2,700 27,700 25,000 52,700 539,158 368,485 0 2030
2031 599,963 11,055 611,018 25,000 1,700 26,700 25,000 51,700 559,318 927,803 0 2031
2032 602,963 27,834 630,797 30,000 600 30,600 25,000 55,600 575,197 1,503,000 0 2032
2033 605,978 45,090 651,068 0 0 0 0 651,068 2,154,068 0 2033
2034 609,008 64,622 673,630 0 0 0 0 673,630 2,827,698 0 2034
2035 612,053 84,831 696,884 0 0 0 0 696,884 3,524,582 0 2035
2036 615,113 105,737 720,850 0 0 0 0 720,850 4,245,432 0 2036
Total 7,421,738 246,083 180,000 35,000 6,277 7,889,098 3,112,931 344,487 3,457,417 330,000 67,026 500 300,150 4,155,093 Total


Notes: Projected Year of Closure


Annual Cumulative
Principal 


OutstandingCapital Other Admin.
Total 


Expenditures


Payments to 
the Town of 


Pleasant 
Springs


Tax 
Increments


Interest 
Earnings/ 


(Cost)
Debt 


Proceeds
Other 


Revenue
Total 


Revenues
Developer 
Guarantee


Projected Revenues Expenditures Balances







 


Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 32 


 


 







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 33 
 


 


 


 


  







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 34 
 


 


 


 


 







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 35 
 


 







Tax Incremental District No. 6 Project Plan Amendment 
City of Stoughton 
Prepared by Ehlers  Page | 36 
 


Revenue Year County
Technical 
College Municipality School District Total Revenue Year


2022 8,852 2,469 26,283 28,273 65,877 2022
2023 10,149 2,831 30,135 32,417 75,532 2023
2024 13,120 3,660 38,955 41,905 97,639 2024
2025 78,240 21,824 232,309 249,902 582,275 2025
2026 78,631 21,934 233,470 251,152 585,186 2026
2027 79,024 22,043 234,637 252,407 588,112 2027
2028 79,419 22,153 235,811 253,670 591,053 2028
2029 79,816 22,264 236,990 254,938 594,008 2029
2030 80,215 22,376 238,175 256,213 596,978 2030
2031 80,616 22,487 239,366 257,494 599,963 2031
2032 81,019 22,600 240,562 258,781 602,963 2032
2033 81,425 22,713 241,765 260,075 605,978 2033
2034 81,832 22,826 242,974 261,376 609,008 2034
2035 82,241 22,941 244,189 262,683 612,053 2035
2036 82,652 23,055 245,410 263,996 615,113 2036


997,251 278,176 2,961,030 3,185,281 7,421,738


Notes:
The projection shown above is provided to meet the requirments of Wisconsin Statute 66.1105(4)(i)4.


Estimated portion of taxes that owners of taxable property in each taxing jurisdiction 
overlaying district would pay by jurisdiction.








Form
WI Dept of Revenue  TID Annual ReportPE-300


2022


Section 1 - Municipality and TID


Due dateMunicipality


TID number Creation date Mandatory termination date


Report type


TID type


County


TID name Expected termination date


Co-muni code


Section 2 - Beginning Balance Amount


TID fund balance at beginning of year


13281 STOUGHTON DANE 07/03/2023 ORIGINAL


004 2 TID 4 03/23/1999 03/23/2026 N/A


$5,006


Section 3 - Revenue


Allocation from another TID


Tax increment


Investment income


Debt proceeds


Special assessments


Shared revenue


Sale of property


Amount


$163,178


$676


$6,982


TID number


Developer guarantees


Developer name


Transfer from other funds


Source


Grants


Source


Other revenue


Source


Total Revenue (deposits) $170,836


              Page        of 1 3







Form
WI Dept of Revenue  TID Annual ReportPE-300


2022


Section 4 - Expenditures


Capital expenditures


Administration


Professional services


Interest and fiscal charges


DOR fees  


Discount on long-term debt


Debt issuance costs


Principal on long-term debt


Environmental costs


Real property assembly costs


Allocation to another TID


Amount


$0


$8,376


$150


TID number 005 $153,850


TID number 008 $14,502


Developer grants


Developer name NA $0


Transfer to other funds


Fund


Other expenditures


Name Revolving fund $15,000


Total Expenditures $191,878


Section 5 - Ending Balance Amount


TID fund balance at end of year


Future costs


Future revenue


Surplus or deficit


$-16,036


$20,600


$36,636


$0


Section 6 - Preparer/Contact Information


Preparer name


Contact name


Preparer phone 


Contact phone


Preparer title


Preparer email 


Contact title 


Contact email 


Lisa Aide Treasurer


(608) 646-0404laide@cityofstoughton.com


Lisa Aide Treasurer


(608) 646-0404laide@cityofstoughton.com


              Page        of 2 3







Form
WI Dept of Revenue  TID Annual ReportPE-300


2022


Co-muni code 


TID number 


Submission date


Confirmation


Submission Information


Submission type


13281


004


06-26-2023 12:48 PM


TIDAR20220393O1687375779913


ORIGINAL


              Page        of 3 3







Form
WI Dept of Revenue  TID Annual ReportPE-300


2022


Section 1 - Municipality and TID


Due dateMunicipality


TID number Creation date Mandatory termination date


Report type


TID type


County


TID name Expected termination date


Co-muni code


Section 2 - Beginning Balance Amount


TID fund balance at beginning of year


13281 STOUGHTON DANE 07/03/2023 ORIGINAL


005 2 TID 5 02/23/2010 02/23/2040 N/A


$-690,264


Section 3 - Revenue


Allocation from another TID


Tax increment


Investment income


Debt proceeds


Special assessments


Shared revenue


Sale of property


Amount


$66,352


$39,592


TID number 004 $153,850


Developer guarantees


Developer name


Transfer from other funds


Source


Grants


Source


Other revenue


Source


Total Revenue (deposits) $259,794


              Page        of 1 3







Form
WI Dept of Revenue  TID Annual ReportPE-300


2022


Section 4 - Expenditures


Capital expenditures


Administration


Professional services


Interest and fiscal charges


DOR fees  


Discount on long-term debt


Debt issuance costs


Principal on long-term debt


Environmental costs


Real property assembly costs


Allocation to another TID


Amount


$1,652


$42,389


$150


$111,461


TID number


Developer grants


Developer name N/A $0


Transfer to other funds


Fund


Other expenditures


Name


Total Expenditures $155,652


Section 5 - Ending Balance Amount


TID fund balance at end of year


Future costs


Future revenue


Surplus or deficit


$-586,122


$1,928,792


$2,514,914


$0


Section 6 - Preparer/Contact Information


Preparer name


Contact name


Preparer phone 


Contact phone


Preparer title


Preparer email 


Contact title 


Contact email 


Lisa Aide Treasurer


(608) 646-0404laide@cityofstoughton.com


Lisa Aide Treasurer


(608) 646-0404laide@cityofstoughton.com


              Page        of 2 3







Form
WI Dept of Revenue  TID Annual ReportPE-300


2022


Co-muni code 


TID number 


Submission date


Confirmation


Submission Information


Submission type


13281


005


06-26-2023 12:51 PM


TIDAR20220393O1687379798748


ORIGINAL


              Page        of 3 3







Form
WI Dept of Revenue  TID Annual ReportPE-300


2022


Section 1 - Municipality and TID


Due dateMunicipality


TID number Creation date Mandatory termination date


Report type


TID type


County


TID name Expected termination date


Co-muni code


Section 2 - Beginning Balance Amount


TID fund balance at beginning of year


13281 STOUGHTON DANE 07/03/2023 ORIGINAL


006 5 TID 6 09/29/2015 09/29/2035 N/A


$511,427


Section 3 - Revenue


Allocation from another TID


Tax increment


Investment income


Debt proceeds


Special assessments


Shared revenue


Sale of property


Amount


$65,877


$4,304


TID number


Developer guarantees


Developer name NAFA $35,000


Transfer from other funds


Source


Grants


Source


Other revenue


Source Miscellaneous Revenue $6,277


Total Revenue (deposits) $111,458


              Page        of 1 3







Form
WI Dept of Revenue  TID Annual ReportPE-300


2022


Section 4 - Expenditures


Capital expenditures


Administration


Professional services


Interest and fiscal charges


DOR fees  


Discount on long-term debt


Debt issuance costs


Principal on long-term debt


Environmental costs


Real property assembly costs


Allocation to another TID


Amount


$17,026


$78,234


$150


$341,379


TID number


Developer grants


Developer name N/A $0


Transfer to other funds


Fund


Other expenditures


Name


Total Expenditures $436,789


Section 5 - Ending Balance Amount


TID fund balance at end of year


Future costs


Future revenue


Surplus or deficit


$186,096


$2,880,472


$2,694,376


$0


Section 6 - Preparer/Contact Information


Preparer name


Contact name


Preparer phone 


Contact phone


Preparer title


Preparer email 


Contact title 


Contact email 


Lisa Aide Treasurer


(608) 646-0404laide@cityofstoughton.com


Lisa Aide Treasurer


(608) 646-0404laide@cityofstoughton.com


              Page        of 2 3







Form
WI Dept of Revenue  TID Annual ReportPE-300


2022


Co-muni code 


TID number 


Submission date


Confirmation


Submission Information


Submission type


13281


006


06-26-2023 12:53 PM


TIDAR20220393O1687380202021


ORIGINAL


              Page        of 3 3







Form
WI Dept of Revenue  TID Annual ReportPE-300


2022


Section 1 - Municipality and TID


Due dateMunicipality


TID number Creation date Mandatory termination date


Report type


TID type


County


TID name Expected termination date


Co-muni code


Section 2 - Beginning Balance Amount


TID fund balance at beginning of year


13281 STOUGHTON DANE 07/03/2023 ORIGINAL


007 6 TID 7 11/11/2014 11/11/2034 N/A


$578,310


Section 3 - Revenue


Allocation from another TID


Tax increment


Investment income


Debt proceeds


Special assessments


Shared revenue


Sale of property


Amount


$832,281


$16,732


$713,208


TID number


Developer guarantees


Developer name Wal-mart $29,651


Transfer from other funds


Source


Grants


Source


Other revenue


Source


Total Revenue (deposits) $1,591,872


              Page        of 1 3







Form
WI Dept of Revenue  TID Annual ReportPE-300


2022


Section 4 - Expenditures


Capital expenditures


Administration


Professional services


Interest and fiscal charges


DOR fees  


Discount on long-term debt


Debt issuance costs


Principal on long-term debt


Environmental costs


Real property assembly costs


Allocation to another TID


Amount


$52,024


$117,473


$150


$18,865


$220,000


TID number


Developer grants


Developer name Wal-mart $804,118


Transfer to other funds


Fund


Other expenditures


Name Assessment Settlement $62,633


Total Expenditures $1,275,263


Section 5 - Ending Balance Amount


TID fund balance at end of year


Future costs


Future revenue


Surplus or deficit


$894,919


$11,234,554


$13,458,886


$3,119,251


Section 6 - Preparer/Contact Information


Preparer name


Contact name


Preparer phone 


Contact phone


Preparer title


Preparer email 


Contact title 


Contact email 


Lisa Aide Treasurer


(608) 646-0404laide@cityofstoughton.com


Lisa Aide Treasurer


(608) 646-0404laide@cityofstoughton.com


              Page        of 2 3







Form
WI Dept of Revenue  TID Annual ReportPE-300


2022


Co-muni code 


TID number 


Submission date


Confirmation


Submission Information


Submission type


13281


007


06-26-2023 12:56 PM


TIDAR20220393O1687380499271


ORIGINAL


              Page        of 3 3







Form
WI Dept of Revenue  TID Annual ReportPE-300


2022


Section 1 - Municipality and TID


Due dateMunicipality


TID number Creation date Mandatory termination date


Report type


TID type


County


TID name Expected termination date


Co-muni code


Section 2 - Beginning Balance Amount


TID fund balance at beginning of year


13281 STOUGHTON DANE 07/03/2023 ORIGINAL


008 2 TID 8 07/24/2018 07/24/2045 N/A


$220,563


Section 3 - Revenue


Allocation from another TID


Tax increment


Investment income


Debt proceeds


Special assessments


Shared revenue


Sale of property


Amount


$6,890


$703,020


TID number 004 $14,502


Developer guarantees


Developer name


Transfer from other funds


Source


Grants


Source Knowles-Nelson Stewardship Grant $84,490


Other revenue


Source


Total Revenue (deposits) $808,902


              Page        of 1 3







Form
WI Dept of Revenue  TID Annual ReportPE-300


2022


Section 4 - Expenditures


Capital expenditures


Administration


Professional services


Interest and fiscal charges


DOR fees  


Discount on long-term debt


Debt issuance costs


Principal on long-term debt


Environmental costs


Real property assembly costs


Allocation to another TID


Amount


$1,034,279


$159,794


$26,288


$150


$18,714


$88,621


TID number


Developer grants


Developer name N/A $0


Transfer to other funds


Fund


Other expenditures


Name


Total Expenditures $1,327,846


Section 5 - Ending Balance Amount


TID fund balance at end of year


Future costs


Future revenue


Surplus or deficit


$-298,381


$12,569,360


$12,867,741


$0


Section 6 - Preparer/Contact Information


Preparer name


Contact name


Preparer phone 


Contact phone


Preparer title


Preparer email 


Contact title 


Contact email 


Lisa Aide Treasurer


(608) 646-0404laide@cityofstoughton.com


Lisa Aide Treasurer


(608) 646-0404laide@cityofstoughton.com


              Page        of 2 3







Form
WI Dept of Revenue  TID Annual ReportPE-300


2022


Co-muni code 


TID number 


Submission date


Confirmation


Submission Information


Submission type


13281


008


06-26-2023 12:59 PM


TIDAR20220393O1687380780099


ORIGINAL


              Page        of 3 3





		PE-300 004.pdf

		PE-300 005.pdf

		PE-300 006.pdf

		PE-300 007.pdf

		PE-300 008.pdf






BALANCE SHEET FOR STOUGHTON CITY 1/1Page:08/22/2023 01:56 PM
User: DAVE
DB: Stoughton


Period Ending 12/31/2023


                                     Fund 204 TID #4 DOWNTOWN


Balance
Current Year
Beg. BalanceDescriptionGL Number


*** Assets ***


165,890.99 0.00 PRIMARY CHECKING204-00000-11100
0.00 175,711.00 TAXES RECEIVABLE204-00000-13070


165,890.99 175,711.00 Total Assets


*** Liabilities ***


0.00 3,030.67 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE204-00000-21100
0.00 13,004.78 DUE TO GENERAL FUND204-00000-25100
0.00 175,711.00 DEF INFLOW - PROPERTY TAXES204-00000-26600


0.00 191,746.45 Total Liabilities


*** Fund Balance ***


(16,035.45)(16,035.45)FUND BALANCE RESTRICTED204-00000-39600


(16,035.45)(16,035.45)Total Fund Balance


(16,035.45)Beginning Fund Balance


181,926.44 Net of Revenues VS Expenditures
165,890.99 Ending Fund Balance
165,890.99 Total Liabilities And Fund Balance







REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE REPORT FOR STOUGHTON CITY 1/1Page:08/22/2023 01:58 PM
User: DAVE
DB: Stoughton


PERIOD ENDING 12/31/2023
% Fiscal Year Completed: 100.00


% BDGT
USED


AVAILABLE
BALANCE


NORM (ABNORM)


ACTIVITY FOR
MONTH 12/31/23


INCR (DECR)


YTD BALANCE
12/31/2023


NORM (ABNORM)
2023


AMENDED BUDGET


2023
ORIGINAL


BUDGETDESCRIPTIONGL NUMBER


Fund 204 - TID #4 DOWNTOWN
99.46 960.00 14,642.62 175,711.00 176,671.00 176,671.00 TAX INCREMENTS204-56400-41111
99.99 0.09 0.00 1,774.91 1,775.00 1,775.00 EXEMPT COMPUTER AID204-56400-43430
100.01 (0.29)0.00 5,207.29 5,207.00 5,207.00 PERSONAL PROPERTY AID204-56400-43431
444.07 (344.07)0.00 444.07 100.00 100.00 INTEREST INCOME204-56400-48110


0.00 (178,753.00)0.00 0.00 (178,753.00)(178,753.00)FUND BAL APPLIED - TAX LEVY204-56400-49910
21.22 3,939.17 0.00 1,060.83 5,000.00 5,000.00 AUDIT FEES204-56400-50410
100.00 (150.00)0.00 150.00 0.00 0.00 FILING FEES204-56400-50423


100.00 (181,926.44)14,642.62 181,926.44 0.00 0.00 NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES


24.22 3,789.17 0.00 1,210.83 5,000.00 5,000.00 TOTAL EXPENDITURES
3,662.75 (178,137.27)14,642.62 183,137.27 5,000.00 5,000.00 TOTAL REVENUES


Fund 204 - TID #4 DOWNTOWN:







BALANCE SHEET FOR STOUGHTON CITY 1/1Page:08/22/2023 01:59 PM
User: DAVE
DB: Stoughton


Period Ending 12/31/2023


                                     Fund 205 TID #5 RAILROAD CORRIDOR


Balance
Current Year
Beg. BalanceDescriptionGL Number


*** Assets ***


22,973.58 0.00 PRIMARY CHECKING205-00000-11100
0.00 158.33 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE205-00000-13010
0.00 59,704.61 TAXES RECEIVABLE205-00000-13070


22,973.58 59,862.94 Total Assets


*** Liabilities ***


0.00 139.17 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE205-00000-21100
566,710.34 586,141.33 DUE TO GENERAL FUND205-00000-25100


0.00 59,704.61 DEF INFLOW - PROPERTY TAXES205-00000-26600


566,710.34 645,985.11 Total Liabilities


*** Fund Balance ***


(586,122.17)(586,122.17)FUND BALANCE UNASSIGNED205-00000-39900


(586,122.17)(586,122.17)Total Fund Balance


(586,122.17)Beginning Fund Balance


42,385.41 Net of Revenues VS Expenditures
(543,736.76)Ending Fund Balance


22,973.58 Total Liabilities And Fund Balance







REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE REPORT FOR STOUGHTON CITY 1/1Page:08/22/2023 02:00 PM
User: DAVE
DB: Stoughton


PERIOD ENDING 12/31/2023
% Fiscal Year Completed: 100.00


% BDGT
USED


AVAILABLE
BALANCE


NORM (ABNORM)


ACTIVITY FOR
MONTH 12/31/23


INCR (DECR)


YTD BALANCE
12/31/2023


NORM (ABNORM)
2023


AMENDED BUDGET


2023
ORIGINAL


BUDGETDESCRIPTIONGL NUMBER


Fund 205 - TID #5 RAILROAD CORRIDOR
99.46 326.39 4,975.43 59,704.61 60,031.00 60,031.00 TAX INCREMENTS205-56400-41111
100.00 (0.08)0.00 39,592.08 39,592.00 39,592.00 EXEMPT COMPUTER AID205-56400-43430
100.00 (40,042.38)0.00 40,042.38 0.00 0.00 PERSONAL PROPERTY AID205-56400-43431


0.00 93,021.00 0.00 0.00 93,021.00 93,021.00 FUND BAL APPLIED - TAX LEVY205-56400-49910
100.00 (337.50)0.00 337.50 0.00 0.00 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES205-56400-50405
53.04 939.17 0.00 1,060.83 2,000.00 2,000.00 AUDIT FEES205-56400-50410
205.55 (158.33)0.00 308.33 150.00 150.00 FILING FEES205-56400-50423
50.00 95,247.00 0.00 95,247.00 190,494.00 190,494.00 TRANSFER TO DEBT SERVICE205-56400-50931


100.00 (42,385.41)4,975.43 42,385.41 0.00 0.00 NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES


50.33 95,690.34 0.00 96,953.66 192,644.00 192,644.00 TOTAL EXPENDITURES
72.33 53,304.93 4,975.43 139,339.07 192,644.00 192,644.00 TOTAL REVENUES


Fund 205 - TID #5 RAILROAD CORRIDOR:







BALANCE SHEET FOR STOUGHTON CITY 1/1Page:08/22/2023 02:04 PM
User: DAVE
DB: Stoughton


Period Ending 12/31/2023


                                     Fund 206 TID #6 BUSINESS PARK EXPANSION


Balance
Current Year
Beg. BalanceDescriptionGL Number


*** Assets ***


194,812.49 161,627.30 PRIMARY CHECKING206-00000-11100
0.00 197,809.83 WISC INVESTMENT FUND206-00000-11302
0.00 428.57 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE206-00000-13010
0.00 75,531.54 TAXES RECEIVABLE206-00000-13070


194,812.49 435,397.24 Total Assets


*** Liabilities ***


0.00 404.17 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE206-00000-21100
0.00 125,000.00 DUE TO GENERAL FUND206-00000-25100


125,000.00 0.00 DUE TO GEN FUND LEVY SUPPORT206-00000-25150
0.00 75,531.54 DEF INFLOW - PROPERTY TAXES206-00000-26600


22,925.98 22,925.98 RETAINAGE206-00000-28100
25,440.35 25,440.35 CONTRACTOR DEPOSITS206-00000-28110


173,366.33 249,302.04 Total Liabilities


*** Fund Balance ***


186,095.20 186,095.20 FUND BALANCE RESTRICTED206-00000-39600


186,095.20 186,095.20 Total Fund Balance


186,095.20 Beginning Fund Balance


(164,649.04)Net of Revenues VS Expenditures
21,446.16 Ending Fund Balance
194,812.49 Total Liabilities And Fund Balance







REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE REPORT FOR STOUGHTON CITY 1/1Page:08/22/2023 02:06 PM
User: DAVE
DB: Stoughton


PERIOD ENDING 12/31/2023
% Fiscal Year Completed: 100.00


% BDGT
USED


AVAILABLE
BALANCE


NORM (ABNORM)


ACTIVITY FOR
MONTH 12/31/23


INCR (DECR)


YTD BALANCE
12/31/2023


NORM (ABNORM)
2023


AMENDED BUDGET


2023
ORIGINAL


BUDGETDESCRIPTIONGL NUMBER


Fund 206 - TID #6 BUSINESS PARK EXPANSION
99.46 412.46 6,294.24 75,531.54 75,944.00 75,944.00 TAX INCREMENTS206-56400-41111
214.97 (1,724.51)0.00 3,224.51 1,500.00 1,500.00 INTEREST INCOME206-56400-48110


0.00 356,210.00 0.00 0.00 356,210.00 356,210.00 FUND BAL APPLIED - TAX LEVY206-56400-49910
0.59 4,970.67 0.00 29.33 5,000.00 5,000.00 OUTSIDE LEGAL SERVICES206-56400-50400


100.00 (6,812.50)0.00 6,812.50 0.00 0.00 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES206-56400-50405
70.72 439.17 0.00 1,060.83 1,500.00 1,500.00 AUDIT FEES206-56400-50410
0.00 6,000.00 0.00 0.00 6,000.00 6,000.00 CONSULTANT FEES206-56400-50421
0.00 2,500.00 0.00 0.00 2,500.00 2,500.00 ENGINEERING FEES206-56400-50422


75.00 50.00 0.00 150.00 200.00 200.00 FILING FEES206-56400-50423
100.00 (118.75)0.00 118.75 0.00 0.00 PAYING AGENT FEE206-56400-50635
50.00 209,226.98 0.00 209,227.02 418,454.00 418,454.00 TRANSFER TO DEBT SERVICE206-56400-50931
100.00 (26,006.66)0.00 26,006.66 0.00 0.00 GLACIER MORAINE206-57330-50840-19049000


100.00 164,649.04 6,294.24 (164,649.04)0.00 0.00 NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES


56.13 190,248.91 0.00 243,405.09 433,654.00 433,654.00 TOTAL EXPENDITURES
18.16 354,897.95 6,294.24 78,756.05 433,654.00 433,654.00 TOTAL REVENUES


Fund 206 - TID #6 BUSINESS PARK EXPANSION:







BALANCE SHEET FOR STOUGHTON CITY 1/1Page:08/22/2023 02:07 PM
User: DAVE
DB: Stoughton


Period Ending 12/31/2023


                                     Fund 207 TID #7 KETTLE PARK WEST


Balance
Current Year
Beg. BalanceDescriptionGL Number


*** Assets ***


304,615.17 259,462.89 PRIMARY CHECKING207-00000-11100
1,008,181.61 1,006,429.79 WISC INVESTMENT FUND207-00000-11302


24,459.31 64,467.93 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE207-00000-13010
0.00 900,076.16 TAXES RECEIVABLE207-00000-13070


1,337,256.09 2,230,436.77 Total Assets


*** Liabilities ***


0.00 6,257.94 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE207-00000-21100
0.00 402,059.00 PAYABLE TO OTHERS207-00000-21105
0.00 900,076.16 DEF INFLOW - PROPERTY TAXES207-00000-26600
0.00 26,464.65 DEF INFLOW - TAX INCREMENT207-00000-26610
0.00 (1,148.00)CONTRACTOR DEPOSITS-KPW #2207-00000-28112
0.00 1,808.00 CONTRACTOR DEPOSITS - KPW #3207-00000-28113


0.00 1,335,517.75 Total Liabilities


*** Fund Balance ***


894,919.02 894,919.02 FUND BALANCE RESTRICTED207-00000-39600


894,919.02 894,919.02 Total Fund Balance


894,919.02 Beginning Fund Balance


442,337.07 Net of Revenues VS Expenditures
1,337,256.09 Ending Fund Balance
1,337,256.09 Total Liabilities And Fund Balance







REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE REPORT FOR STOUGHTON CITY 1/1Page:08/22/2023 02:08 PM
User: DAVE
DB: Stoughton


PERIOD ENDING 12/31/2023
% Fiscal Year Completed: 100.00


% BDGT
USED


AVAILABLE
BALANCE


NORM (ABNORM)


ACTIVITY FOR
MONTH 12/31/23


INCR (DECR)


YTD BALANCE
12/31/2023


NORM (ABNORM)
2023


AMENDED BUDGET


2023
ORIGINAL


BUDGETDESCRIPTIONGL NUMBER


Fund 207 - TID #7 KETTLE PARK WEST
99.46 4,918.84 75,006.31 900,076.16 904,995.00 904,995.00 TAX INCREMENTS207-56400-41111
100.00 (15,964.56)0.00 15,964.56 0.00 0.00 PUBLIC CHARGES FOR SERVICES207-56400-46900
407.86 (23,089.70)0.00 30,589.70 7,500.00 7,500.00 INTEREST INCOME207-56400-48110
100.00 (26,464.64)0.00 26,464.64 0.00 0.00 TAX INCREMENT GUARANTEE207-56400-48700


0.00 (797,961.00)0.00 0.00 (797,961.00)(797,961.00)FUND BAL APPLIED - TAX LEVY207-56400-49910
7.60 6,468.00 0.00 532.00 7,000.00 7,000.00 OUTSIDE LEGAL SERVICES207-56400-50400


42.43 1,439.17 0.00 1,060.83 2,500.00 2,500.00 AUDIT FEES207-56400-50410
100.00 (15,217.56)0.00 15,217.56 0.00 0.00 ENGINEERING FEES207-56400-50422
100.00 (150.00)0.00 150.00 0.00 0.00 FILING FEES207-56400-50423
50.00 52,517.02 0.00 52,516.98 105,034.00 105,034.00 TRANSFER TO DEBT SERVICE207-56400-50931
100.00 (461,280.62)0.00 461,280.62 0.00 0.00 CAPITAL - ENGINEERING207-57330-50840-20721000


100.00 (442,337.07)75,006.31 442,337.07 0.00 0.00 NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES


463.41 (416,223.99)0.00 530,757.99 114,534.00 114,534.00 TOTAL EXPENDITURES
849.61 (858,561.06)75,006.31 973,095.06 114,534.00 114,534.00 TOTAL REVENUES


Fund 207 - TID #7 KETTLE PARK WEST:







BALANCE SHEET FOR STOUGHTON CITY 1/1Page:08/22/2023 12:36 PM
User: DAVE
DB: Stoughton


Period Ending 12/31/2023


Fund 208 TID #8 RIVERFRONT DEVELOPMENT


Balance
Current Year
Beg. BalanceDescriptionGL Number


*** Assets ***


(183,928.82)(261.29)PRIMARY CHECKING208-00000-11100
0.00261.29WISC INVESTMENT FUND208-00000-11302


3,787.500.00ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE208-00000-13011
0.0022,013.71TAXES RECEIVABLE208-00000-13070


631,594.05679,909.20DUE FROM STATE OF WISCONSIN208-00000-14200


451,452.73701,922.91Total Assets


*** Liabilities ***


0.005,917.96ACCOUNTS PAYABLE208-00000-21100
286,327.57258,625.96DUE TO GENERAL FUND208-00000-25100
24,741.000.00DUE TO GEN FUND LEVY SUPPORT208-00000-25150


0.0022,013.71DEF INFLOW - PROPERTY TAXES208-00000-26600
131,594.05679,909.20DEF INFLOW STATE GRANTS208-00000-26620
33,837.0033,837.00RETAINAGE208-00000-28100


476,499.621,000,303.83Total Liabilities


*** Fund Balance ***


(298,380.92)(298,380.92)FUND BALANCE RESTRICTED208-00000-39600


(298,380.92)(298,380.92)Total Fund Balance


(298,380.92)Beginning Fund Balance


273,334.03Net of Revenues VS Expenditures
(25,046.89)Ending Fund Balance
451,452.73Total Liabilities And Fund Balance







REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE REPORT FOR STOUGHTON CITY 1/1Page:08/22/2023 01:04 PM
User: DAVE
DB: Stoughton


PERIOD ENDING 12/31/2023
% Fiscal Year Completed: 100.00


% BDGT
USED


AVAILABLE
BALANCE


NORM (ABNORM)


ACTIVITY FOR
MONTH 12/31/23


INCR (DECR)


YTD BALANCE
12/31/2023


NORM (ABNORM)
2023


AMENDED BUDGET


2023
ORIGINAL


BUDGETDESCRIPTIONGL NUMBER


Fund 208 - TID #8 RIVERFRONT DEVELOPMENT
0.00 1,444,199.00 0.00 0.00 1,444,199.00 1,444,199.00 CAPITAL GRANTS208-55300-43799
0.00 2,381,796.00 0.00 0.00 2,381,796.00 2,381,796.00 NOTE PROCEEDS208-55300-49120
0.00 35,000.00 0.00 0.00 35,000.00 35,000.00 RIVER TRAIL PLANNING STUDY208-55300-50840-23051000
0.00 350,000.00 0.00 0.00 350,000.00 350,000.00 RIVER DEV - PHASE 2 - RIVER RESTORATION208-55300-50870-23047000
0.00 1,774,546.00 0.00 0.00 1,774,546.00 1,774,546.00 RIVER DEV - PHASE 2 - TRAILS/UNDERPASS208-55300-50870-23048000
0.00 1,666,449.00 0.00 0.00 1,666,449.00 1,666,449.00 CAP LAND IMPROVEMENTS208-55300-50870-23049000


99.45 121.29 1,834.43 22,013.71 22,135.00 22,135.00 TAX INCREMENTS208-56400-41111
100.00 (574,076.81)0.00 574,076.81 0.00 0.00 CAPITAL GRANTS208-56400-43799
100.00 (3,787.50)0.00 3,787.50 0.00 0.00 PUBLIC CHARGES FOR SERVICES208-56400-46900


0.00 135,972.00 0.00 0.00 135,972.00 135,972.00 FUND BAL APPLIED - TAX LEVY208-56400-49910
9.55 13,567.80 0.00 1,432.20 15,000.00 15,000.00 EQUIPMENT RENTAL/LEASE208-56400-50214


164.46 (6,446.14)0.00 16,446.14 10,000.00 10,000.00 OUTSIDE LEGAL SERVICES208-56400-50400
100.00 (9,375.00)0.00 9,375.00 0.00 0.00 PROFESSIONAL SERVICES208-56400-50405
79.56 1,226.16 0.00 4,773.84 6,000.00 6,000.00 AUDIT FEES208-56400-50410
100.00 0.00 0.00 150.00 150.00 150.00 FILING FEES208-56400-50423


0.00 10,000.00 0.00 0.00 10,000.00 10,000.00 UNDERWRITER DISCOUNT208-56400-50631
0.00 5,000.00 0.00 0.00 5,000.00 5,000.00 MUNICIPAL ADVISOR FEE208-56400-50632
0.00 2,500.00 0.00 0.00 2,500.00 2,500.00 BOND COUNSEL FEE208-56400-50633
0.00 3,000.00 0.00 0.00 3,000.00 3,000.00 RATING AGENCY FEE208-56400-50634


79.17 31.25 0.00 118.75 150.00 150.00 PAYING AGENT FEE208-56400-50635
100.00 (109,490.24)0.00 109,490.24 0.00 0.00 PEDESTRIAN BRIDGE CONSTRUCTION208-56400-50820-21003000
100.00 (63,461.70)0.00 63,461.70 0.00 0.00 RIVERBANK RESTORATION208-56400-50820-21004000
100.00 (57,069.72)0.00 57,069.72 0.00 0.00 RIVERFRONT TRAIL AND AMENITIES208-56400-50820-21005000
100.00 (9,005.00)0.00 9,005.00 0.00 0.00 RDA - P.W. ENVIRONMENTAL TEST/REMEDIATIN208-56400-50840-19043000
50.00 53,153.48 0.00 53,153.52 106,307.00 106,307.00 TRANSFER TO DEBT SERVICE208-56400-50931
100.00 (2,067.88)0.00 2,067.88 0.00 0.00 TIF - PEDESTRIAN BRIDGE DESIGN208-57310-50820-20071000


100.00 (273,334.03)1,834.43 273,334.03 0.00 0.00 NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES


8.20 3,657,558.01 0.00 326,543.99 3,984,102.00 3,984,102.00 TOTAL EXPENDITURES
15.06 3,384,223.98 1,834.43 599,878.02 3,984,102.00 3,984,102.00 TOTAL REVENUES


Fund 208 - TID #8 RIVERFRONT DEVELOPMENT:







State of Wisconsin 


Check Date: 6/7/2023 Supplier Number: 0000071871 
AP Unit Voucher ID Invoice Number Invoice 


Date 


DNA 00661203 CF URGP32050 P 5/31/2023 
DNA Grant #URGP32050 Yahara Riverfront Trail Dev. (Ph.1) 


'[ IE ml IE U IE � 
�� JU. 0 9 2023 


By 
I 


QUESTIONS? Contact wivendors@wi.gov or 608-264-6600 with check and amt 


Check Number Date 


1002769132 6f7/2023 


- -
Check No: 100..._ ·� 11 8 O�:�J


Gross Amount Discount Amount Paid Amount 


$74,076.81 $0.00 $74,076.81 


Total Gross Amount Total Discounts Total Paid Amount 


$74,076.81 $0.00 $74,076.81 


1002769132 
1111 I \II OI IIIISllO(l\ll'\111\S \(OIORfllB\(h(.IWl'l>0'\\\11111 l'\1'11! 


Dept of Administration - State Controller 
PO Box 7932 
Madison WI 53707-7932 


· .:.-·Y· 


Ir


❖ 


�----=----------.,,.-� 
.. tpJyJ6t��9fd�r••61i•·· Ti=l�ASCIJY srctv.�·�T 


.. •·•·· ..•.. < \ ·. ' / L ..• ·.•·••�·.s.··•.E. v ...... E ... N� -Fo6a .• •.· ... T .... HO ·< ....... Pay �St!Y:" 


000494 


TREAS CITY STOUGHTON 


207 SOUTH FORREST STREET 


STOUGHTON WI 53589-1718 


1002769132 
�$ $mk; Ml,wah��eN:A. 


vJat :�a;ltt�;�ate
.,Jyn(:}], 2923 


$ *** 74,076.81 


Secretary ofAdmitil$ttation 


Jt;.�,i£!:; 
IHI( l \II, I ( f


f


\ I \l',S \\ \ 11 l!\I \l!h 110111 \ I \', \.._1,11 IO\ 11 \\ 


A.  Receipt payment should go to A/C 208-00000-142000 Due from State of Wisconsin.
B. The accrual entry was done with JE 8957.
C. The amount remaining in the receivable balance relating to Knowles-Nelson Stewardship grant is 


$10,412.69, which ties out to the remaining balance on the grant reimbursement submissiion.
D. The grant submission does indicate the payment request is partial (not final), so the remaining balance is 


appropriately accrued for in 2022.
E. Ehlinger will need to do a separate entry in both Fund 208 and Fund 910 related to the deferred inflows.
F. Ehlinger will work with Baker Tilly regarding prior years treatment of the advance payment received, as 


there is no unearned revenue in Fund 208.







1


Dave Ehlinger


From: Dave Ehlinger
Sent: Tuesday, August 22, 2023 2:10 PM
To: Dan Glynn
Subject: RE: 370.1 Land and Water Consservation Fund Aids.pdf


Thanks for the update. 
 


From: Dan Glynn <DGlynn@cityofstoughton.com>  
Sent: Tuesday, August 22, 2023 2:01 PM 
To: Dave Ehlinger <DEhlinger@cityofstoughton.com> 
Subject: RE: 370.1 Land and Water Consservation Fund Aids.pdf 
 
I’ll be submitting the cost reimbursement form in the next month. 
 
Dan Glynn, CPRP 
Director of Parks & Recreation  
City of Stoughton  
608-873-6746 
www.stoughtonrec.com 
 


From: Dave Ehlinger <DEhlinger@cityofstoughton.com>  
Sent: Tuesday, August 22, 2023 12:47 PM 
To: Dan Glynn <DGlynn@cityofstoughton.com> 
Subject: 370.1 Land and Water Consservation Fund Aids.pdf 
 
Dan, 
 
I apologize if I asked about this previously.  When do you anticipate applying for these grant funds? 
 
Thanks, 
 
Dave 







1


Dave Ehlinger


From: Dave Ehlinger
Sent: Friday, August 18, 2023 7:50 AM
To: 'Jason Scott'
Cc: Lisa Aide; Tim Swadley; Rodney J. Scheel
Subject: RE: WEDC contract ISR FY19-24308 - Request #4


Jason, 
 
I am just following up on our payment requests for the Idle Sites grant for the City of Stoughton.  When might we 
anticipate getting our funds? 
 
Thanks, 
 
Dave 
 


From: Dave Ehlinger  
Sent: Tuesday, June 27, 2023 11:15 AM 
To: Jason Scott <jason.scott@wedc.org> 
Cc: Lisa Aide <LAide@cityofstoughton.com>; Tim Swadley <TSwadley@cityofstoughton.com>; Rodney J. Scheel 
<rjscheel@cityofstoughton.com> 
Subject: WEDC contract ISR FY19-24308 - Request #4 
 
Jason, 
 
Attached is payment request #4 for the above grant contract.   
 
Due to file sizes, each payment is being sent in a separate email.   
 
If you have any problems or questions, please feel free to contact me. 
 
Thanks, 
 
Dave 
 
 
David P. Ehlinger, CPA 
Director of Finance/Comptroller 
City of Stoughton 
207 S. Forrest St. 
Stoughton, WI  53589 
Desk (608) 873-6691 
City Hall (608) 873-6677 
Fax (608) 873-5519 
DEhlinger@cityofstoughton.com ≪< Please note new email address 
www.cityofstoughton.com             ≪< Please note new website URL 
 
 







BALANCE SHEET FOR STOUGHTON CITY 1/1Page:08/22/2023 02:16 PM
User: DAVE
DB: Stoughton


Period Ending 12/31/2023


                                     Fund 209 TID #9 51 WEST DEVELOPMENT


Balance
Current Year
Beg. BalanceDescriptionGL Number


*** Assets ***


(1,710.96)0.00 PRIMARY CHECKING209-00000-11100
2,215.65 10,625.70 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE209-00000-13010


504.69 10,625.70 Total Assets


*** Liabilities ***


0.00 1,084.41 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE209-00000-21100
0.00 8,056.79 DUE TO GENERAL FUND209-00000-25100


25,000.00 25,000.00 CONTRACTOR DEPOSITS209-00000-28115


25,000.00 34,141.20 Total Liabilities


*** Fund Balance ***


(23,515.50)(23,515.50)FUND BALANCE UNASSIGNED209-00000-39900


(23,515.50)(23,515.50)Total Fund Balance


(23,515.50)Beginning Fund Balance


(979.81)Net of Revenues VS Expenditures
(24,495.31)Ending Fund Balance


504.69 Total Liabilities And Fund Balance







REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE REPORT FOR STOUGHTON CITY 1/1Page:08/22/2023 02:17 PM
User: DAVE
DB: Stoughton


PERIOD ENDING 12/31/2023
% Fiscal Year Completed: 100.00


% BDGT
USED


AVAILABLE
BALANCE


NORM (ABNORM)


ACTIVITY FOR
MONTH 12/31/23


INCR (DECR)


YTD BALANCE
12/31/2023


NORM (ABNORM)
2023


AMENDED BUDGET


2023
ORIGINAL


BUDGETDESCRIPTIONGL NUMBER


Fund 209 - TID #9 51 WEST DEVELOPMENT
100.00 (40,589.47)0.00 40,589.47 0.00 0.00 PUBLIC CHARGES FOR SERVICES209-56400-46900
100.00 (260.37)0.00 260.37 0.00 0.00 INTEREST INCOME209-56400-48110
100.00 (141.34)0.00 141.34 0.00 0.00 OUTSIDE LEGAL SERVICES209-56400-50400
100.00 (1,060.84)0.00 1,060.84 0.00 0.00 AUDIT FEES209-56400-50410
100.00 (40,477.47)0.00 40,477.47 0.00 0.00 ENGINEERING FEES209-56400-50422
100.00 (150.00)0.00 150.00 0.00 0.00 FILING FEES209-56400-50423


100.00 979.81 0.00 (979.81)0.00 0.00 NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES


100.00 (41,829.65)0.00 41,829.65 0.00 0.00 TOTAL EXPENDITURES
100.00 (40,849.84)0.00 40,849.84 0.00 0.00 TOTAL REVENUES


Fund 209 - TID #9 51 WEST DEVELOPMENT:





		Fund 204 Bal Sheet.pdf

		Fund 204 Rev Exp.pdf

		Fund 205 Bal Sheet.pdf

		Fund 205 Rev Exp.pdf

		Fund 206 Bal Sheet.pdf

		Fund 206 Rev Exp.pdf

		Fund 207 Bal Sheet.pdf

		Fund 207 Rev Exp.pdf

		Fund 208 interim financial statements 08-22-2023.pdf

		Document.pdf

		rev exp ipdated.pdf

		4af64ab2-7b8f-4010-a808-e63d9ca44544.pdf



		Memo Style.pdf

		Memo Style idle sites.pdf

		Fund 209 Bal Sheet.pdf

		Fund 209 Rev Exp.pdf










City of Stoughton 
Tax Incremental Districts No. 4, No. 5, 


No. 6, No. 7, No. 8 and No. 9 


Financial Statements 


December 31, 2022 







City of Stoughton 
Tax Incremental District No. 4, No. 5, No. 6, No. 7, No. 8 and No. 9 
Table of Contents 
December 31, 2022 
 


   Page   


Accountants' Compilation Report 1


Financial Statements 


Tax Incremental District No. 4 - Balance Sheet 2 


Tax Incremental District No. 4 - Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project Revenues and 
Net Cost to be Recovered Through Tax Increments 3 


Tax Incremental District No. 4 - Historical Summary of Sources, Uses and Status of Funds 4 


Tax Incremental District No. 5 - Balance Sheet 5 


Tax Incremental District No. 5 - Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project Revenues and 
Net Cost to be Recovered Through Tax Increments 6 


Tax Incremental District No. 5 - Historical Summary of Sources Uses and Status of Funds 7 


Tax Incremental District No. 6 - Balance Sheet 8 


Tax Incremental District No. 6 - Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project Revenues and 
Net Cost to be Recovered Through Tax Increments 9 


Tax Incremental District No. 6 - Historical Summary of Sources Uses and Status of Funds 10 


Tax Incremental District No. 7 - Balance Sheet 11 


Tax Incremental District No. 7 - Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project Revenues and 
Net Cost to be Recovered Through Tax Increments 12 


Tax Incremental District No. 7 - Historical Summary of Sources Uses and Status of Funds 13 


Tax Incremental District No. 8 - Balance Sheet 14 


Tax Incremental District No. 8 - Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project Revenues and 
Net Cost to be Recovered Through Tax Increments 15 


Tax Incremental District No. 8 - Historical Summary of Sources Uses and Status of Funds 16 


Tax Incremental District No. 9 - Balance Sheet 17 


Tax Incremental District No. 9 - Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project Revenues and 
Net Cost to be Recovered Through Tax Increments 18 


Tax Incremental District No. 9 - Historical Summary of Sources Uses and Status of Funds 19 


Notes to Financial Statements 20 







1 


Accountants' Compilation Report 


To the City Council of 
City of Stoughton 


Management is responsible for the accompanying Balance Sheet, Historical Summary of Project Costs, 
Project Revenues and Net Cost to be Recovered Through Tax Increments and Historical Summary of 
Sources, Uses and Status of Funds of the City of Stoughton, Wisconsin's Tax Incremental Districts No. 4, 
No. 5, No. 6, No. 7, No. 8 and No. 9 (Districts) as of and for the year ended December 31, 2022 and from the 
date of creation through December 31, 2022, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States of America. We have performed a compilation engagement in accordance with Statements 
on Standards for Accounting and Review Services promulgated by the Accounting and Review Services 
Committee of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. We did not audit or review the financial 
statements nor were we required to perform any procedures to verify the accuracy or completeness of the 
information provided by management. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion, a conclusion, nor provide 
any form of assurance on these financial statements. 


As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements present only the transactions of the Districts and do not 
purport to and do not, present fairly the financial position of the City of Stoughton as of December 31, 2022, 
the changes in its financial position or, where applicable, cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 


Management has omitted the management's discussion and analysis that accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America require to be presented to supplement the financial statements. 
Such missing information, although not a part of the financial statements, is required by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the 
financial statements in an appropriate operational, economical or historical context. 


Madison, Wisconsin 
June 22, 2023 


Baker Tilly US, LLP, trading as Baker Tilly, is a member of the global network of Baker Tilly International Ltd., the members of which 
are separate and independent legal entities. © 2020-2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 4
Balance Sheet
December 31, 2022


Capital
Projects


Fund


Assets


Taxes receivable 175,711$         


Total assets 175,711$         


Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Fund Balance


Liabilities
Accounts payable 3,031$             
Advance from city general fund 13,005             


Total liabilities 16,036             


Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unearned revenues 175,711           


Total deferred inflows of resources 175,711           


Fund Balance
Unassigned (deficit) (16,036)            


Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and fund balance 175,711$         


See notes to financial statements 
2







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 4
Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project Revenues


and Net Cost to be Recovered Through Tax Increments
Year Ended December 31, 2022 and From Date of Creation Through December 31, 2022


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


Project Costs
Capital expenditures (1,175)$            2,981,246$      
Administration (in-house) -                       70,139             
Department of Revenue fees 150                  750                  
Revolving loan fund 15,000             280,000           
Professional services, planning, engineering, other 9,551               340,578           
Debt issuance costs -                       26,075             
Contribution to other districts 168,352           580,173           
Interest on long-term debt -                       802,998           


Total project costs 191,878           5,081,959        


Project Revenues
Tax increments 163,178           3,159,866        
Exempt computer aid 1,775               62,895             
Personal property aid 5,207               20,828             
Intergovernmental -                       89,415             
Contribution from other districts -                       1,405,024        
Investment income 676                  170,421           
Sale of property -                       104,762           
Miscellaneous revenue -                       8,810               
Developer guarantees -                       43,902             


Total project revenues 170,836           5,065,923        


Net cost (recovered) to be recovered through
TIF increments, December 31, 2022 21,042$           16,036$           


See notes to financial statements
3







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 4
Historical Summary of Sources, Uses and Status of Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2022 and From Date of Creation Through December 31, 2022


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


Sources of Funds
Tax increments 163,178$         3,159,866$      
Exempt computer aid 1,775               62,895             
Personal property aid 5,207               20,828             
Intergovernmental -                       89,415             
Contribution from other districts -                       1,405,024        
Investment income 676                  170,421           
Sale of property -                       104,762           
Miscellaneous revenue -                       8,810               
Developer guarantees -                       43,902             
Long-term debt issued -                       3,160,750        


Total sources of funds 170,836           8,226,673        


Uses of Funds
Capital expenditures (1,175)              2,981,246        
Administration (in-house) -                       70,139             
Department of Revenue fees 150                  750                  
Revolving loan fund 15,000             280,000           
Professional services, planning, engineering, other 9,551               340,578           
Debt issuance costs -                       26,075             
Contribution to other districts 168,352           580,173           
Interest on long-term debt -                       802,998           
Principal on long-term debt -                       3,160,750        


Total uses of funds 191,878           8,242,709        


Excess (deficiency) of sources of funds over uses of funds (21,042)            (16,036)            


Fund Balance, Beginning 5,006               -                       


Fund Balance (Deficit), Ending (16,036)$          (16,036)$          


See notes to financial statements 
4







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 5
Balance Sheet
December 31, 2022


Capital
Projects


Fund


Assets


Taxes receivable 59,705$           
Accounts receivable 158                  


Total assets 59,863$           


Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Fund Balance


Liabilities
   Accounts payable 139$                


Advance from city general fund 586,141           


Total liabilities 586,280           


Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unearned revenues 59,705             


Total deferred inflows of resources 59,705             


Fund Balance
Unassigned (deficit) (586,122)          


Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and fund balance 59,863$           


See notes to financial statements 
5







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 5
Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project Revenues


and Net Cost to be Recovered Through Tax Increments
Year Ended December 31, 2022 and From Date of Creation Through December 31, 2022


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


Project Costs
Capital expenditures -$                     2,717,912$      
Professional services, planning, engineering, other 1,652               52,734             
Department of Revenue fees 150                  1,750               
Interest on advances -                       96,965             
Debt issuance costs -                       18,157             
Interest on long-term debt 42,389             233,946           


Total project costs 44,191             3,121,464        


Project Revenues
Tax increments 66,352             196,798           
Transfer from other funds -                       100,000           
Contribution from other districts 153,850           178,850           
Exempt computer aid 39,592             278,353           
Intergovernmental -                       350,000           
Developer guarantees -                       130,168           
Investment income -                       5,724               
Land sales -                       116,616           
Miscellaneous revenues -                       1,000               


Total project revenues 259,794           1,357,509        


Net cost (recovered) to be recovered through
TIF increments, December 31, 2022 (215,603)$        1,763,955$      


Reconciliation of Recoverable Costs
General obligation debt 1,177,833$      
Add fund balance deficit 586,122           


 
Net costs to be recovered through


TIF increments, December 31, 2022 1,763,955$      


See notes to financial statements 
6







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 5
Historical Summary of Sources, Uses and Status of Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2022 and From Date of Creation Through December 31, 2022


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


Sources of Funds
Tax increments 66,352$           196,798$         
Transfers from other funds -                       100,000           
Contribution from other districts 153,850           178,850           
Exempt computer aid 39,592             278,353           
Intergovernmental -                       350,000           
Developer guarantees -                       130,168           
Investment income -                       5,724               
Land sales -                       116,616           
Miscellaneous revenues -                       1,000               
Long-term debt issued -                       1,498,750        


Total sources of funds 259,794           2,856,259        


Uses of Funds
Capital expenditures -                       2,717,912        
Professional services, planning, engineering, other 1,652               52,734             
Department of Revenue fees 150                  1,750               
Interest on advance -                       96,965             
Debt issuance costs -                       18,157             
Interest on long-term debt 42,389             233,946           
Principal on long-term debt 111,461           320,917           


Total uses of funds 155,652           3,442,381        


Excess (deficiency) of sources of funds over uses of funds 104,142           (586,122)          


Fund Balance (Deficit), Beginning (690,264)          -                       


Fund Balance (Deficit), Ending (586,122)$        (586,122)$        


See notes to financial statements 
7







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 6
Balance Sheet
December 31, 2022


Capital
Projects


Fund


Assets


Cash and investments 359,437$         
Taxes receivable 75,532             
Accounts receivable 429                  


Total assets 435,398$         


Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Fund Balance


Liabilities
Accounts payable and deposits 48,770$           
Advances from city general fund 125,000           


Total liabilities 173,770           


Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unearned revenues 75,532             


Total deferred inflows of resources 75,532             


Fund Balance
Restricted 186,096           


Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and fund balance 435,398$         


See notes to financial statements 
8







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 6
Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project Revenues


and Net Cost to be Recovered Through Tax Increments
Year Ended December 31, 2022 and From Date of Creation Through December 31, 2022


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


Project Costs
Capital expenditures -$                     2,546,895$      
Professional services, planning, engineering, other 17,026             226,144           
Department of Revenue fees 150                  750                  
Debt issuance cost -                       36,163             
Interest on long-term debt 78,234             206,942           


Total project costs 95,410             3,016,894        


Project Revenues
Tax increments 65,877             139,551           
Tax levy -                       125,000           
Investment income 4,304               43,418             
Developer guarantee 35,000             52,159             
Land sales -                       173,230           
Premium on long-term debt -                       14,080             
Miscellaneous revenues 6,277               63,222             


Total project revenues 111,458           610,660           


Net cost (recovered) to be recovered through
TIF increments, December 31, 2022 (16,048)$          2,406,234$      


Reconciliation of Recoverable Costs
General obligation debt 2,592,330$      
Less fund balance (186,096)          


 
Net costs to be recovered through


tax increments, December 31, 2022 2,406,234$      


See notes to financial statements 
9







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 6
Historical Summary of Sources, Uses and Status of Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2022 and From Date of Creation Through December 31, 2022


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


Sources of Funds
Tax increments 65,877$           139,551$         
Tax levy -                       125,000           
Investment income 4,304               43,418             
Developer guarantee 35,000             52,159             
Miscellaneous revenues 6,277               63,222             
Land sales -                       173,230           
Premium on long-term debt -                       14,080             
Long-term debt issued -                       3,123,709        


Total sources of funds 111,458           3,734,369        


Uses of Funds
Capital expenditures -                       2,546,895        
Professional services, planning, engineering, other 17,026             226,144           
Department of Revenue fees 150                  750                  
Debt issuance cost -                       36,163             
Interest on long-term debt 78,234             206,942           
Principal on long-term debt 341,379           531,379           


Total uses of funds 436,789           3,548,273        


Excess (deficiency) of sources of funds over uses of funds (325,331)          186,096           


Fund Balance, Beginning 511,427           -                       


Fund Balance, Ending 186,096$         186,096$         


See notes to financial statements 
10







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 7
Balance Sheet
and Net Cost to be Recovered Through Tax Increments


Capital
Projects


Fund


Assets


Cash and investments 1,265,893$      
Taxes receivable 900,076           
Accounts receivable 64,468             


Total assets 2,230,437$      


Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Fund Balance


Liabilities


Accounts payable and deposits 408,977$         


Total liabilities 408,977           


Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unearned revenues 926,541           


Total deferred inflows of resources 926,541           


Fund Balance
Restricted 894,919           


Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and fund balance 2,230,437$      


See notes to financial statements 
11







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 7
Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project Revenues


and Net Cost to be Recovered Through Tax Increments
Year Ended December 31, 2022 and From Date of Creation Through December 31, 2022


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


Project Costs
Capital expenditures -$                     3,233,521$      
Developer payments 804,118           1,354,118        
Administration (in-house) -                       33,311             
Professional services, planning, engineering, other 52,024             1,269,688        
Department of Revenue fees 150                  450                  
Assessment settlement 62,633             62,633             
Debt issuance costs 18,865             121,543           
Interest on long-term debt 117,473           700,173           


Total project costs 1,055,263        6,775,437        


Project Revenues
Tax increments 832,281           3,325,811        
Premium on long-term debt 13,208             174,028           
Investment income 16,732             47,758             
Developer guarantees 29,651             127,759           


Total project revenues 891,872           3,675,356        


Net cost (recovered) to be recovered through
TIF increments, December 31, 2022 163,391$         3,100,081$      


Reconciliation of Recoverable Costs
Long-term debt  3,995,000$      
Less fund balance (894,919)          


 
Net costs to be recovered through


tax increments, December 31, 2022 3,100,081$      


See notes to financial statements 
12







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 7
Historical Summary of Sources, Uses and Status of Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2022 and From Date of Creation Through December 31, 2022


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


Sources of Funds
Tax increments 832,281$         3,325,811$      
Investment income 16,732             47,758             
Premium on long-term debt 13,208             174,028           
Long-term debt issued 700,000           9,565,000        
Developer guarantees 29,651             127,759           


Total sources of funds 1,591,872        13,240,356      


Uses of Funds
Capital expenditures -                       3,233,521        
Developer payments 804,118           1,354,118        
Administration (in-house) -                       33,311             
Professional services, planning, engineering, other 52,024             1,269,688        
Department of Revenue fees 150                  450                  
Assessment settlement 62,633             62,633             
Debt issuance cost 18,865             121,543           
Interest on long-term debt 117,473           700,173           
Principal on long-term debt 220,000           5,570,000        


Total uses of funds 1,275,263        12,345,437      


Excess of sources of funds over uses of funds 316,609           894,919           


Fund Balance, Beginning 578,310           -                       


Fund Balance, Ending 894,919$         894,919$         


See notes to financial statements 
13







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 8
Balance Sheet
December 31, 2022


Capital
Projects


Fund


Assets


Taxes receivable 22,014$           


Due from the state 679,909           


Total assets 701,923$         


Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Fund Balance 


Liabilities


Accounts payable 39,755$           


Advance from city general fund 258,626           


Total liabilities 298,381           


Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unearned revenues 22,014             
Unavailable revenues 679,909           


Total deferred inflows of resources 701,923           


Fund Balance
Unassigned (deficit) (298,381)          


Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and fund balance 701,923$         


See notes to financial statements 
14







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 8
Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project Revenues


and Net Cost to be Recovered Through Tax Increments
Year Ended December 31, 2022 and From Date of Creation Through December 31, 2022


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


Project Costs
Capital expenditures 1,034,279$      1,802,114$      
Department of Revenue fees 150                  1,600               
Professional services, planning, engineering, other 159,794           348,861           
Debt issuance costs 18,714             22,497             
Interest on long-term debt 26,288             91,245             


Total project costs 1,239,225        2,266,317        


Project Revenues
Tax increments 6,890               12,486             
Tax levy -                       24,741             
Intergovernmental 84,490             179,990           
Contribution from other districts 14,502             401,323           
Premium on long-term debt 13,020             14,645             
Investment income -                       4,963               


Total project revenues 118,902           638,148           


Net cost (recovered) to be recovered through
TIF increments, December 31, 2022 1,120,323$      1,628,169$      


Reconciliation of Recoverable Costs
Long-term debt  1,329,788$      
Add fund balance deficit 298,381           


 
Net costs to be recovered through


tax increments, December 31, 2022 1,628,169$      


See notes to financial statements 
15







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 8
Historical Summary of Sources, Uses and Status of Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2022 and From Date of Creation Through December 31, 2022


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


Sources of Funds
Tax increments 6,890$             12,486$           
Tax levy -                       24,741             
Investment income -                       4,963               
Intergovernmental 84,490             179,990           
Contribution from other districts 14,502             401,323           
Premium on long-term debt 13,020             14,645             
Long-term debt issued 690,000           1,418,409        


Total sources of funds 808,902           2,056,557        


Uses of Funds
Capital expenditures 1,034,279        1,802,114        
Department of Revenue fees 150                  1,600               
Professional services, planning, engineering, other 159,794           348,861           
Debt issuance cost 18,714             22,497             
Interest and fiscal charges on long-term debt 26,288             91,245             
Principal on long-term debt 88,621             88,621             


Total uses of funds 1,327,846        2,354,938        


Excess (deficiency) of sources of funds over uses of funds (518,944)          (298,381)          


Fund Balance, Beginning 220,563           -                       


Fund Balance (Deficit), Ending (298,381)$        (298,381)$        


See notes to financial statements 
16







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 9
Balance Sheet
December 31, 2022


Capital
Projects


Fund


Assets


Accounts receivable 10,626$           


Total assets 10,626$           


Liabilities and Fund Balance 


Liabilities


Accounts payable and deposits 26,084$           


Advance from city general fund 8,056               


Total liabilities 34,140             


Fund Balance
Unassigned (deficit) (23,514)            


Total liabilities and fund balance 10,626$           


See notes to financial statements 
17







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 9
Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project Revenues


and Net Cost to be Recovered Through Tax Increments
Year Ended December 31, 2022 and From Date of Creation Through December 31, 2022


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


Project Costs
Administration (in-house) 19,475$           19,475$           
Professional services, planning, engineering, other 38,528             38,528             


Total project costs 58,003             58,003             


Project Revenues
   Miscellaneous revenue 33,985             33,985             
   Investment income 504                  504                  


Total project revenues 34,489             34,489             


Net cost (recovered) to be recovered through
TIF increments, December 31, 2022 23,514$           23,514$           


See notes to financial statements 
18







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 9
Historical Summary of Sources, Uses and Status of Funds
Year Ended December 31, 2022 and From Date of Creation Through December 31, 2022


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


Sources of Funds
Investment income 504$                504$                
Miscellaneous revenue 33,985             33,985             


Total sources of funds 34,489             34,489             


Uses of Funds
Administration (in-house) 19,475             19,475             
Professional services, planning, engineering, other 38,528             38,528             


Total uses of funds 58,003             58,003             


Excess (deficiency) of sources of funds over uses of funds (23,514)            (23,514)            


Fund Balance, Beginning -                       -                       


Fund Balance (Deficit), Ending (23,514)$          (23,514)$          


See notes to financial statements 
19







City of Stoughton 
Tax Incremental District No. 4, No. 5, No. 6, No. 7, No. 8 and No. 9 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 
 


 20 


1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 


The accounting policies of the City of Stoughton's Tax Incremental District No. 4, No. 5, No. 6, No. 7, 
No. 8 and No. 9 (the Districts) conform to accounting principles as applicable to governmental units and 
as defined by Wisconsin Statutes Section 66.1105. 


The City of Stoughton (the City) has implemented accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America to the extent they apply in determining the scope of the activity of the Districts. The 
accompanying financial statements reflect all the significant operations of the Districts. The 
accompanying financial statements do not include the full presentation of the City. 


Description of Fund Structure and Long-Term Debt 


This report contains the financial information of the Districts. The summary statements were prepared 
from data recorded in the following funds and the City's long-term debt: 


Debt Service Fund 
Capital Projects Fund 


Detailed descriptions of the purpose of these funds and long-term debt can be found in the City's 
basic financial statements. 


The data was consolidated for purposes of this report. Therefore, the amounts shown in the 
accompanying statements will not directly correlate with amounts shown in the basic financial 
statements. 


The Districts was created under the provisions of Wisconsin Statute Section 66.1105. The purpose of 
that section is to allow a municipality to recover development and improvement costs in a designated 
area from the property taxes generated on the increased value of the property after the creation date 
of the Districts. The tax on the increased value is called a tax increment. 


The statutes allow the Districts to collect tax increments until the net project cost has been fully 
recovered, or until 27 years for TID Nos. 4, 5 and 8 and 20 years for TID Nos. 6, 7 and 9, after the 
creation date, whichever occurs first. Project costs uncollected at the dissolution date are absorbed 
by the City. Project costs may be incurred up to five years before the unextended termination date of 
the Districts. 


Original Project Plan 


  Creation Date  
Last Date to Incur 


Project Costs  
Last Year to Collect 


Increment 


 
TID No. 4  01/01/1999  03/23/2021  2026  
TID No. 5  01/01/2010  03/12/2032  2037  
TID No. 6  01/01/2015  09/29/2030  2036  
TID No. 7  01/01/2015  11/11/2029  2035  
TID No. 8  01/01/2018  07/24/2040  2046  
TID No. 9  01/01/2022  04/12/2038  2043  


 
  







City of Stoughton 
Tax Incremental District No. 4, No. 5, No. 6, No. 7, No. 8 and No. 9 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 
 


 21 


Plan Amendment 


  Adoption Date  
 


TID No. 4 Amendment No. 1  09/26/2006   
TID No. 4 Amendment No. 2  01/12/2010   
TID No. 4 Amendment No. 3  01/12/2021   
TID No. 5 Amendment No. 1  07/24/2018   
TID No. 7 Amendment No. 1  05/20/2020   
     


Basis of Accounting 


The modified accrual basis of accounting was followed in the preparation of these statements. Under 
the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recorded when susceptible to accrual, i.e., 
both measurable and available. Available means collectible within the current period or soon enough 
thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current period. Project costs, other than interest on 
long-term debt, are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred. 


District increments are recorded as revenues in the year due. Intergovernmental aids and grants are 
recognized as revenues in the period the related expenditures are incurred, if applicable, or when the 
District is entitled to the aids.  


Special assessments are recorded as revenues when collected. Annual installments due in future 
years are accounted for as receivables and unavailable revenues. There are no special assessments 
receivables as of the date of this report. 


Other general revenues are recognized when received in cash or when measurable and available 
under the criteria described above.  


Use of Estimates 


The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements 
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could 
differ from those estimates. 


Measurement Focus 


The measurement focus of all governmental funds is the funds flow concept. Under the funds flow 
concept, sources and uses of financial resources, including capital outlays, debt proceeds and debt 
retirements are reflected in operations. Resources not available to finance expenditures and 
commitments of the current period are recognized as unavailable or unearned revenue or as 
nonspendable fund equity. Liabilities for claims, judgments, compensated absences and pension 
contributions which will not be currently liquidated using expendable available financial resources are 
shown in the long-term debt footnote disclosure. The related expenditures are recognized when the 
liabilities are liquidated. 


Project Plan Budget 


The estimated revenues and expenditures of the District are adopted in the project plan. Those 
estimates are for the entire life of the District, and may not be comparable to interim results presented 
in this report.  


  







City of Stoughton 
Tax Incremental District No. 4, No. 5, No. 6, No. 7, No. 8 and No. 9 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 
 


 22 


Long-Term Debt 


Short-term liabilities are recorded as fund liabilities. All other long-term liabilities are shown in the 
long-term debt footnote disclosure.  


Proceeds of long-term debt issues not recorded as fund liabilities are reflected as "Sources of Funds" 
in the operating statement of the recipient fund. Retirement of these issues is reported as an 
expenditure in the year in which the debt matures or is repaid, whichever is earlier. 


Claims and Judgments 


Claims and judgments are recorded as liabilities if all the conditions of Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board pronouncements are met. The liability and expenditure for claims and judgments is 
only reported in governmental funds if it has matured. Claims and judgments are disclosed in the 
long-term debt footnote when the related liabilities are incurred.  


 
2. Cash and Temporary Investments 


The Districts invest funds in accordance with the provisions of the Wisconsin Statutes 66.0603(1m) and 
67.11(2). 


Investments are stated at fair value, which is the amount at which an investment could be exchanged in a 
current transaction between willing parties. Fair values are based on quoted market prices. No 
investments are reported at amortized cost. Adjustments necessary to record investments at fair value 
are recorded in the operating statement as increases or decreases in investment income. 


The Districts, as funds of the City, maintain separate and common cash and investment accounts at the 
same financial institutions utilized by the City. Federal depository insurance and the State of Wisconsin 
Guarantee fund insurance apply to the City as an individual municipality, and, accordingly, the amount of 
insured funds is not determinable for the Districts. 


 
3. Long-Term Debt 


General Obligation Debt 


All general obligation notes and bonds payable are backed by the full faith and credit of the City. 
Notes and bonds borrowed to finance the Districts' expenditures will be retired by tax increments 
accumulated by the District funds. If those revenues are not sufficient, payments will be made by 
future tax levies or utility revenues, as applicable. 


  







City of Stoughton 
Tax Incremental District No. 4, No. 5, No. 6, No. 7, No. 8 and No. 9 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 
 


 23 


  


Original 
Amount 


Borrowed  Repaid  
Balance 
12-31-22 


 
TIF District No. 4          


02/23/99 State Trust Fund Loan - 5.25%  $ 162,000  $ 162,000  $ - 
08/09/00 State Trust Fund Loan - 5.25%   355,080   355,080   - 
06/01/01 Promissory Note - 4.10 - 4.60%   1,025,000   1,025,000   - 
06/01/01 Promissory Note - 4.10 - 4.60%   154,427   154,427   - 
06/15/03 Promissory Note - 3.00 - 3.375%   292,105   292,105   - 
06/22/04 State Trust Fund Loan - 4.00%   213,746   213,746   - 
04/14/09 Promissory Note 1.60 - 3.85%   163,392   163,392   - 
04/13/10 G.O. Refunding Bonds - 1.00 - 3.25%   795,000   795,000   - 


          
Total  $ 3,160,750  $ 3,160,750  $ - 


 


  


Original 
Amount 


Borrowed  Repaid  
Balance 
12-31-22 


 
TIF District No. 5          


12/28/16 State Trust Fund Loan - 3.50%  $ 850,000  $ 168,090  $ 681,910 
06/08/17 G.O. Notes - 2.00 - 3.00%   300,000   107,827   192,173 
04/26/18 G.O. Notes - 3.25 - 4.00%   348,750   45,000   303,750 


          
Total  $ 1,498,750  $ 320,917  $ 1,177,833 


 
Aggregate maturities are as follows: 
 


  Principal  Interest Total 


 
Calendar years:          


2023  $ 115,700  $ 38,500  $ 154,200 
2024   117,673   60,502   178,175 
2025   131,411   30,209   161,620 
2026   136,247   25,836   162,083 
2027    147,745   21,383   169,128 
2028 - 2032   299,664   103,176   402,840 
2033 - 2036   229,393   20,421   249,814 


          
Total  $ 1,177,833  $ 300,027  $ 1,477,860 


 


  


Original 
Amount 


Borrowed  Repaid  
Balance 
12-31-22 


 
TIF District No. 6          


06/08/17 Promissory Notes - 2.00 - 3.00%  $ 505,000  $ 240,000  $ 265,000 
03/26/19 Promissory Notes - 2.125 - 4.00%   2,618,709   291,379   2,327,330 


          
Total  $ 3,123,709  $ 531,379  $ 2,592,330 


 







City of Stoughton 
Tax Incremental District No. 4, No. 5, No. 6, No. 7, No. 8 and No. 9 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 
 


 24 


Aggregate maturities of all long-term debt relating to the District are as follows: 
 


  Principal  Interest  Total 
 


Calendar years:          
2023  $ 350,345  $ 68,109  $ 418,454 
2024   363,793   56,737   420,530 
2025    377,759   44,263   422,022 
2026   391,207   31,528   422,735 
2027   400,172   20,705   420,877 
2028 - 2029   709,054   16,709   725,763 


          
Total  $ 2,592,330  $ 238,051  $ 2,830,381 


 


  


Original 
Amount 


Borrowed  Repaid  
Balance 
12-31-22 


 
TIF District No. 7          


10/21/15 Note Anticipation Notes 1.250%  $ 4,775,000  $ 4,775,000  $ - 
04/26/18 G.O. Bonds - 2.00 - 4.00%   4,090,000   795,000   3,295,000 
06/09/22 G.O. Bonds - 3.00 - 4.00%   700,000   -   700,000 


          
Total  $ 9,565,000  $ 5,570,000  $ 3,995,000 


 
Debt service requirements to maturity are as follows:  
 


  Principal  Interest  Total 


 
Calendar years:          


2023  $ 260,000  $ 137,722  $ 397,722 
2024   270,000   122,500   392,500 
2025    270,000   114,400   384,400 
2026   275,000   106,225   381,225 
2027   290,000   96,475   386,475 
2028 - 2032   1,620,000   307,075   1,927,075 
2033 - 2037   825,000   73,225   898,225 
2038 - 2042   185,000   19,100   204,100 


          
Total  $ 3,995,000  $ 976,722  $ 4,971,722 


 


  


Original 
Amount 


Borrowed  Repaid  
Balance 
12-31-22 


 
TIF District No. 8          


04/26/18 G.O. Bonds - 2.00 - 4.00%  $ 426,250  $ 55,000  $ 371,250 
03/26/19 Promissory Notes - 2.125 - 4.00%   302,159   33,621   268,538 
06/09/22 G.O. Bonds - 3.00 - 4.00%   690,000   -   690,000 


          
Total  $ 1,418,409  $ 88,621  $ 1,329,788 


 







City of Stoughton 
Tax Incremental District No. 4, No. 5, No. 6, No. 7, No. 8 and No. 9 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 
 


 25 


Debt service requirements to maturity are as follows:  
 


  Principal  Interest  Total 
 


Calendar years:          
2023  $ 127,405  $ 49,324  $ 176,729 
2024   128,957   37,694   166,651 
2025    132,741   32,993   165,734 
2026   137,043   28,138   165,181 
2027   140,828   23,665   164,493 
2028 - 2032   322,814   78,001   400,815 
2033 - 2037   175,000   48,138   223,138 
2038 - 2042   165,000   15,900   180,900 


          
Total  $ 1,329,788  $ 313,853  $ 1,643,641 


 
 
4. Advances From/Due to City General Fund 


The general fund is advancing funds to TIF Districts No. 4, No. 5, No. 6, No. 8 and No. 9. The amount 
advanced is determined by the deficiency of revenues over expenditures and other financing sources 
since the District's inception. No interest is being charged. A repayment schedule has not been 
established.  


 
5. Increment Sharing  


In 2006, the City and joint review board approved sharing increments from TIF District No. 2 (donor 
district, subsequently closed) to TIF District No. 4 (donee district). Transfers were approved to begin in 
2007. State statutes limit the number of years a District may share increments to ten. The increment 
sharing with TIF District No. 4 was allowable for years 2007 through 2009. TIF District No. 2 was closed in 
2009. 


In 2007, the City and joint review board approved sharing increments from TIF District No. 3 (donor 
district) to TIF District No 4 (donee district). Transfers began in 2007 and were valid for a five-year period. 
TIF District No. 3 was closed in 2021. Details of transfers are as follows: 


Years  
TID  


No. 2  
TID  


No. 3  
Total 


Contributions 
 


2007  $ 106,997  $ -  $ 106,997 
2008   94,532   133,893   228,425 
2009   97,243   49,404   146,647 
2010   -   237,402   237,402 
2011   -   685,553   685,553 


          
Total  $ 298,772  $ 1,106,252  $ 1,405,024 


 


In 2021, the City and joint review board approved sharing increments from TIF District No. 4 (donor 
district) to TIF District Nos. 5 and 8 (donee districts). During 2021, TIF District No. 4 contributed $25,000 
and $386,821 to TIF Districts Nos. 5 and 8, respectively. During 2022, TIF District No. 4 contributed 
additional $153,850 and $14,502 to TIF Districts Nos. 5 and 8, respectively. 


 







City of Stoughton 
Tax Incremental District No. 4, No. 5, No. 6, No. 7, No. 8 and No. 9 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 
 


 26 


6. Transfers From Other Funds 


The City has transferred funds to TIF District No. 5 to cover deficits over the years. It is the intent of the 
City to have TIF District No. 5 repay the general fund for these transfers contingent upon future 
availability of funds.  


The following is a historical summary of transfers for TIF District No. 5: 


Year ending December 31:  
2010 $ 100,000 


 
 
7. Developer Agreements 


TIF District No. 6 has entered into a developer agreement with North American Fur Auction (NAFA) where 
the City shall construct the City improvements and provide a noncash development incentive, by 
conveying a piece of land in the amount of $377,000. The City fulfilled its obligation during 2017. During 
2020, NAFA declared bankruptcy. 


TIF District No. 7 has entered into a developer agreement where the TID shall reimburse Developer for 
off-site public improvements in the amount of $3,763,230. The City fulfilled its obligation during 2017. 


 
8. Developer Payments  


During 2022, TIF District No. 7 has made a developer agreement to Kettle Park West, LLC of $804,118. 


No developer payments were made by TIF District Nos. 4, 5, 6, 8 and 9 for 2022. 


 
9. Guaranteed Revenue  


TIF District No. 4 had entered into a development agreement with The Plaza Group (the Developer) for 
the Kegonza Plaza development. The agreement guarantees that the Developer shall pay the difference 
between the guaranteed tax increment and the tax increment actually levied. The guarantee agreement 
shall terminate when the City of Stoughton has collected from the tax increment generated from the 
District or paid under the agreement the full amounts guaranteed. From years 2000 through 2006 the 
Developer failed to generate the required tax increments and, therefore, made payments to the City of 
Stoughton totaling $43,902. As of December 31, 2022, the City of Stoughton has received all agreed-
upon amounts either through actual increment or guaranteed revenue payments. 


TIF District No. 5 has entered into a development agreement with Movin' Out Development, LLC (the 
Developer). The agreement guarantees that the Developer shall pay the difference between the 
guaranteed tax increment and the tax increment actually levied. The guarantee obligation shall terminate 
when the City has collected from the tax increment generated from the District or been paid under this 
agreement the full amount of the project costs of not less than $610,753 plus 5% interest accruing from 
January 1, 2012. Guarantee payments received as of December 31, 2022 were $130,168. 


TIF District No. 6 has entered into a development agreement with NAFA. The agreement guarantees the 
assessed value of NAFA's property will be not less than $1,100,000, $3,500,000 and $5,000,000 by 
January 1, 2018, 2019 and 2021 respectively. Beginning calendar year 2019, NAFA shall pay the 
difference between the guaranteed tax increment on the assessed values and the tax increment actually 
levied. The agreement shall continue until TIF District No. 6 has terminated. As noted above, NAFA 
declared bankruptcy in 2020. Total guarantee payments received as of December 31, 2022 were 
$52,159, with a final payment of $35,000 received in 2022. 







City of Stoughton 
Tax Incremental District No. 4, No. 5, No. 6, No. 7, No. 8 and No. 9 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2022 
 


 27 


TIF District No. 6 has entered into a development agreement with GIP-Glacier Moraine, LLC (the 
Developer). The agreement guarantees that the Developer shall pay the difference between the 
guaranteed tax increment and the tax increment actually levied. The guarantee obligation shall terminate 
on December 15, 2024, when the City has collected from the tax increment generated from the District or 
been paid under this agreement the full amount of the project costs of not less than $550,000. Increments 
generated as of December 31, 2022 were $125,220. 


TIF District No. 7 has entered into a development agreement with Kettle Park West, LLC (KPW). The 
agreement guarantees that beginning in calendar year 2018, the actual tax increment will be sufficient to 
fully pay the annual debt service on City borrowing. The Developer shall pay the difference between the 
guaranteed tax increment and the tax increment actually levied. The guarantee obligation shall terminate 
in 2034 or when the TIF District No. 7 has been terminated - whichever is sooner. TIF guarantee 
payments received in years 2019-2021 was $98,108. TIF guarantee payment received in 2022 was 
$29,651. 


 
10. Municipal Revenue Obligation  


In 2020, the City issued a municipal revenue obligation as part of a development agreement. The amount 
of the obligation was $3,000,000 and is payable to the Developer solely from tax increments collected 
from a specific portion of the development in TIF District No.7. 


Payments are scheduled through the year 2035 or when TIF District No. 7 has been terminated, 
whichever is sooner and carry an interest rate of 6%. The obligation does not constitute a charge upon 
any funds of the City. In the event that future tax increments are not sufficient to pay off the obligation, the 
obligation terminates with no further liability to the City. Since the amount of future payments is contingent 
on the collection of future TIF increments, the obligation is not reported as a liability in the accompanying 
financial statements. During 2022, the City paid $804,118 and the balance of the commitment outstanding 
at year end was $2,195,882. 


In 2014, the City entered into a similar municipal revenue obligation developer agreement in the amount 
of $550,000. TIF District No. 7 paid the entire amount in 2021.  





		Blank Page










 


City of Stoughton 
Tax Incremental District No. 4 


Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Information 


December 31, 2021 


 
 


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


 


 


 







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 4 
Table of Contents 
December 31, 2021 


 


    Page    


Independent Auditors' Report 1 


Financial Statements 


Tax Incremental District No. 4 - Balance Sheet 4 


Tax Incremental District No. 4 - Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project Revenues and 
Net Cost Recovered Through Tax Increments 5 


Tax Incremental District No. 4 - Historical Summary of Sources, Uses and Status of Funds 6 


Notes to Financial Statements 7 


Supplementary Information 


Tax Incremental District No. 4 - Detailed Schedule of Sources, Uses and Status of Funds 11 


Independent Auditors' Report on Compliance 14 
 







Independent Auditors' Report


To the City Council of
City of Stoughton


Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements


Opinion


We have audited the accompanying Balance Sheet, Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project Revenues
and Net Cost Recovered Through Tax Increments and Historical Summary of Sources, Uses and Status of
Funds of the City of Stoughton's Tax Incremental District No. 4 (the District) as of December 31, 2021 and from
the date of creation through December 31, 2021, and the related notes to the financial statements.


In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the District and the net project costs recovered through tax increments as of December 31, 2021
and the sources, uses and status of funds from the date of creation through December 31, 2021, in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.


Basis for Opinion


We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America (GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors'
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be
independent of the District and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical
requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.


Emphasis of Matter


As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements present only the transactions of City of Stoughton's Tax
Incremental District No. 4 and do not purport to, and do not, present fairly the financial position of the City of
Stoughton, Wisconsin, as of December 31, 2021, and the changes in financial position, or, where applicable,
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.


Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements


Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; and for the design,
implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.


1


Baker Tilly US, LLP, trading as Baker Tilly, is a member of the global network of Baker Tilly International Ltd., the members of which 
are separate and independent legal entities. © 2020-2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP







Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements


Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of
internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in
the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial
statements.


In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:


 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.


 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to


fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures


include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial


statements.


 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures


that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the


effectiveness of the District's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.


 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant


accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the


financial statements.


We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings and certain internal control-related matters that
we identified during the audit.


Required Supplementary Information


Management has omitted the management's discussion and analysis that accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America require to be presented to supplement the financial statements. Such
missing information, although not a part of the financial statements, is required by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the
financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic or historical context. Our opinion on the financial
statements is not affected by this missing information.


Supplementary Information


Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the District's financial statements. The supplementary information as listed in the table of contents is
presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the financial statements. Such
information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements. The information has been subjected to
the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures,
including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records
used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our
opinion, the supplementary information is fairly stated in all material respects, in relation to the financial
statements as a whole.


2







Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements


We have also issued our report dated November 30, 2022 on our tests of its compliance with Wisconsin State
Statutes Section 66.1105. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of compliance and
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on compliance. 


Madison, Wisconsin
November 30, 2022


3







Balance Sheet
December 31, 2021


Capital
Projects


Fund


Assets


Cash and investments 20,651$           
Taxes receivable 163,178           


Total assets 183,829$         


Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources
and Fund Balance


Liabilities
Accounts payable 15,645$           


Total liabilities 15,645             


Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unearned revenue 163,178           


Total deferred inflows of resources 163,178           


Fund Balance
Restricted 5,006               


Total fund balance 5,006               


Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources
and fund balance 183,829$         


City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 4


 
See notes to financial statements


4







Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project Revenues and
Net Cost Recovered Through Tax Increments


From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2021 


Project Costs
Capital expenditures 2,982,421$      
Administration (in-house) 70,139             
Professional services: planning, engineering, other 331,027           
Department of Revenue fees 600                  
Revolving loan fund 265,000           
Contribution to other districts 411,821           
Interest and fiscal charges on long-term debt 802,998           
Debt issuance costs 26,075             


Total project costs 4,890,081        


Project Revenues
Tax increments 2,996,688        
Exempt computer aid 61,120             
Personal property aid 15,621             
Intergovernmental grants 89,415             
Contribution from other districts 1,405,024        
Investment income 169,745           
Sale of property 104,762           
Developer guarantees 43,902             
Miscellaneous revenues 8,810               


Total project revenues 4,895,087        


Net cost recovered through
  tax increments, December 31, 2021 (5,006)$            


City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 4


 


See notes to financial statements
5


 







Historical Summary of Sources, Uses and Status of Funds
From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2021 


Sources of Funds
Tax increments 2,996,688$      
Exempt computer aid 61,120             
Personal property aid 15,621             
Intergovernmental grants 89,415             
Contribution from other districts 1,405,024        
Investment income 169,745           
Sale of property 104,762           
Developer guarantees 43,902             
Miscellaneous revenues 8,810               
Long-term debt issued 3,160,750        


Total sources of funds 8,055,837        


Uses of Funds
Capital expenditures 2,982,421        
Administration (in-house) 70,139             
Professional services: planning, engineering, other 331,027           
Department of Revenue fees 600                  
Revolving loan fund 265,000           
Contribution to other districts 411,821           
Interest and fiscal charges on long-term debt 802,998           
Debt issuance costs 26,075             
Principal on long-term debt 3,160,750        


Total uses of funds 8,050,831        


Fund balance, December 31, 2021 5,006$             


City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 4


 
See notes to financial statements


6







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 4 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2021 
 


7 


1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 


The accounting policies of the City of Stoughton's Tax Incremental District No. 4 (the District) conform to 
accounting principles as applicable to governmental units and as defined by Wisconsin Statutes Section 
66.1105. 


The City of Stoughton has implemented accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America to the extent they apply in determining the scope of the activity of Tax Incremental District (TID) 
No. 4. The accompanying financial statements reflect all the significant operations of the City of 
Stoughton's Tax Incremental District No. 4. The accompanying financial statements do not include the full 
presentation of the City of Stoughton. 


Description of Fund Structure and Long-Term Debt 


This report contains the financial information of the City of Stoughton's Tax Incremental District No. 4. 
The summary statements were prepared from data recorded in the following funds and the City's 
long-term debt: 


General Fund 
Capital Project Fund 


Detailed descriptions of the purpose of these funds and long-term debt can be found in the City of 
Stoughton's basic financial statements. 


The data was consolidated for purposes of this report. Therefore, the amounts shown in the 
accompanying statements will not directly correlate with amounts shown in the basic financial 
statements. 


The District was created under the provisions of Wisconsin Statute Section 66.1105. The purpose of 
that section is to allow a municipality to recover development and improvement costs in a designated 
area from the property taxes generated on the increased value of the property after the creation date 
of the District. The tax on the increased value is called a tax increment. 


The statutes allow the District to collect tax increments until the net project cost has been fully 
recovered, or until 27 years after the creation date, whichever occurs first. Project costs uncollected 
at the dissolution date are absorbed by the City of Stoughton. Project costs may be incurred up to five 
years before the unextended termination date of the District. 


Original Project Plan 


  Creation Date  
Last Date to Incur 


Project Costs  
Last Year to Collect 


Increment 
 


TID No. 4  January 1, 1999  March 23, 2021  2026 
 


Plan Amendments 


  Adoption Date  
Last Date to Incur 


Project Costs 
 


Amendment 1  September 26, 2006  March 23, 2021 
Amendment 2  January 12, 2010  March 23, 2021 
Amendment 3  January 12, 2021  March 23, 2021 


 
  







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 4 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2021 
 


8 


Basis of Accounting 


The modified accrual basis of accounting was followed in the preparation of these statements. Under 
the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recorded when susceptible to accrual, i.e., 
both measurable and available. Available means collectible within the current period or soon enough 
thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current period. Project costs, other than interest on long-
term debt, are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred. 


District increments are recorded as revenues in the year due. Intergovernmental aids and grants are 
recognized as revenues in the period the related expenditures are incurred, if applicable, or when the 
District is entitled to the aids.  


Other general revenues are recognized when received in cash or when measurable and available 
under the criteria described above.  


Use of Estimates 


The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of 
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 


Measurement Focus 


The measurement focus of all governmental funds is the funds flow concept. Under the funds flow 
concept, sources and uses of financial resources, including capital outlays, debt proceeds and 
debt retirements are reflected in operations. Resources not available to finance expenditures and 
commitments of the current period are recognized as unavailable or unearned revenue or as 
nonspendable fund equity. Liabilities for claims, judgments, compensated absences and pension 
contributions which will not be currently liquidated using expendable available financial resources 
are shown in the long-term debt footnote disclosure. The related expenditures are recognized 
when the liabilities are liquidated. 


Project Plan Budget 


The estimated revenues and expenditures of the District are adopted in the project plan. Those 
estimates are for the entire life of the District, and may not be comparable to interim results 
presented in this report.  


Long-Term Debt 


Short-term liabilities are recorded as fund liabilities. All other long-term liabilities are shown in the 
long-term debt footnote disclosure.  


Proceeds of long-term debt issues not recorded as fund liabilities are reflected as "Sources of 
Funds" in the operating statement of the recipient fund. Retirement of these issues is reported as 
an expenditure in the year in which the debt matures or is repaid, whichever is earlier.  


Claims and Judgments 


Claims and judgments are recorded as liabilities if all the conditions of Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board pronouncements are met. The liability and expenditure for claims and 
judgments is only reported in governmental funds if it has matured. Claims and judgments are 
disclosed in the long-term debt footnote when the related liabilities are incurred.  







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 4 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2021 
 


9 


2. Cash and Temporary Investments 


The District invests its funds in accordance with the provisions of the Wisconsin Statutes       66.0603(1m) 
and 67.11(2). 


Investments are stated at fair value, which is the amount at which an investment could be exchanged in a 
current transaction between willing parties. Fair values are based on quoted market prices. No 
investments are reported at amortized cost. Adjustments necessary to record investments at fair value 
are recorded in the operating statement as increases or decreases in investment income. 


The District, as a fund of the City, maintains separate and common cash and investment accounts at the 
same financial institutions utilized by the City. Federal depository insurance and the State of Wisconsin 
Guarantee fund insurance apply to the City of Stoughton as an individual municipality, and, accordingly, 
the amount of insured funds is not determinable for the District. 


 
3. Long-Term Debt 


General Obligation Debt 


All general obligation notes and bonds payable are backed by the full faith and credit of the City of 
Stoughton. Debt borrowed to finance the District's expenditures was retired by tax increments 
accumulated by the Capital Projects fund. 


Title of Issue 
 


Date of Issue  Due Date  
Interest  


Rate  
Original 


Indebtedness  Repaid  
Balance  
12-31-21 


 
1999 G.O State Trust Fund  2/23/1999  03/15/2009  5.25 %  $ 162,000  $ 162,000  $ - 


2000 G.O State Trust Fund  8/09/2000  03/15/2010  5.25    355,080   355,080   - 


2001 G.O Promissory Notes  6/01/2001  06/01/2011  4.10-4.60    1,025,000   1,025,000   - 


2001 G.O Promissory Notes  6/01/2001  06/01/2011  4.10-4.60    154,427   154,427   - 


2003 G.O Promissory Notes  6/15/2003  06/13/2013  3.00-3.375    292,105   292,105   - 


2004 G.O State Trust Fund  6/22/2004  03/15/2014  4.00    213,746   213,746   - 


2009 G.O Promissory Notes  4/14/2009  03/01/2014  1.60-3.85    163,392   163,392   - 


2010 G.O Refunding Bonds  4/13/2010  03/01/2020  1.00-3.25    795,000   795,000    


                 


Total         $ 3,160,750  $ 3,160,750  $ - 


 
 
4. Developer Guarantees 


The City of Stoughton had entered into a development agreement with The Plaza Group (the Developer) 
for the Kegonza Plaza development. The agreement guarantees that the Developer shall pay the 
difference between the guaranteed tax increment and the tax increment actually levied. The guarantee 
agreement shall terminate when the City of Stoughton has collected from the tax increment generated 
from the District or paid under the agreement the full amounts guaranteed. From years 2000 through 
2006 the Developer failed to generate the required tax increments and, therefore, made payments to the 
City of Stoughton totaling $43,902. As of December 31, 2021, the City of Stoughton has received all 
agreed-upon amounts either through actual increment or guaranteed revenue payments. 


  







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 4 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2021 
 


10 


5. Increment Sharing 


As allowable under TID statutes, the City of Stoughton may share positive TID increments. In 2006, the 
City of Stoughton and joint review board approved sharing increments from TID No. 2 (donor district, 
subsequently closed) to TID No. 4 (donee district). TID increment sharing is valid for a five-year period, 
and can be extended for an additional five years by the joint review board. Transfers between districts are 
subject to various conditions in the statutes. The increment sharing with TID No. 4 was allowable for 
years 2007 through 2009. TID No. 2 was closed in 2009. 


In 2007, the City and joint review board approved sharing increments from TID No. 3 (donor district) to 
TID No. 4 (donee district). Transfers were approved to begin in 2007 and were valid for a five-year period. 
Details of transfers are as follows: 


Years  
TID  


No. 2  
TID  


No. 3  
Total 


Contributions 
 


2007  $ 106,997  $ -  $ 106,997 
2008   94,532   133,893   228,425 
2009   97,243   49,404   146,647 
2010   -   237,402   237,402 
2011   -   685,553   685,553 


          
Total  $ 298,772  $ 1,106,252  $ 1,405,024 


 
As allowable under TID statutes, the City of Stoughton may share positive TID increments. In 2021, the 
City of Stoughton and joint review board approved sharing increments from TID No. 4 (donor district) to 
TID Nos. 5 and 8 (donee districts). Transfers were approved to begin in 2021. TID increment sharing is 
valid for the life of the District, whichever date comes first, and the life of the donor district may not be 
extended. Transfers between districts are subject to various conditions in the statutes. Total amount of 
contributions towards TID No. 5 as of December 31, 2021 is $25,000. Total amount of contributions 
towards TID No. 8 as of December 31, 2021 is $386,821. 







Detailed Schedule of Sources, Uses and Status of Funds
From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2021


1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007


Sources of Funds
Tax increments -$                     -$                     25,351$           19,043$           24,999$           42,128$           63,080$           79,332$           71,090$           
Exempt computer aid -                       -                       -                       4,239               4,292               3,807               4,452               3,445               4,145               
Personal property aid -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       
Intergovernmental grants -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       89,415             -                       -                       
Contribution from other districts -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       106,997           
Investment income -                       -                       17,161             16,751             13,302             14,287             34,257             9,696               -                       
Sale of property -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       
Developer guarantees -                       20,000             5,223               3,438               3,404               2,295               321                  9,221               -                       
Miscellaneous revenues -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       
Long-term debt issued 162,000           355,080           1,179,427        -                       292,105           213,746           -                       -                       -                       


Total sources of funds 162,000           375,080           1,227,162        43,471             338,102           276,263           191,525           101,694           182,232           


Uses of Funds
Capital expenditures -                       289,487           170,170           757,108           231,346           234,856           19,569             2,256               2,116               
Administration (in-house) 2,422               -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       
Professional services: planning, engineering, other 20,302             -                       87,787             116,201           23,029             19,009             -                       9,020               -                       
Department of Revenue fees -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       
Revolving loan fund -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       
Contribution to other districts -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       
Interest and fiscal charges on long-term debt -                       7,829               18,939             103,542           73,806             83,463             80,288             76,511             70,109             
Debt issuance costs -                       -                       26,075             -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       
Principal on long-term debt -                       13,324             47,774             49,020             85,189             108,559           136,780           144,193           148,252           


Total uses of funds 22,724             310,640           350,745           1,025,871        413,370           445,887           236,637           231,980           220,477           


City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 4


 11







Detailed Schedule of Sources, Uses and Status of Funds
From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2021


2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015


Sources of Funds
Tax increments 96,441$           107,922$         125,075$         218,965$         260,505$         272,240$         259,437$         178,650$         
Exempt computer aid 3,837               2,102               3,225               2,755               2,006               1,042               5,652               4,377               
Personal property aid -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       
Intergovernmental grants -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       
Contribution from other districts 228,425           146,647           237,402           685,553           -                       -                       -                       -                       
Investment income -                       351                  88                    13                    92                    299                  328                  417                  
Sale of property -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       550                  -                       -                       
Developer guarantees -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       
Miscellaneous revenues -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       
Long-term debt issued -                       163,392           795,000           -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       


Total sources of funds 328,703           420,414           1,160,790        907,286           262,603           274,131           265,417           183,444           


Uses of Funds
Capital expenditures -                       30,658             191,785           8,195               95,887             -                       -                       -                       
Administration (in-house) 734                  11,388             26,104             -                       1,451               24,578             977                  985                  
Professional services: planning, engineering, other -                       -                       6,684               -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       
Department of Revenue fees -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       
Revolving loan fund -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       
Contribution to other districts -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       
Interest and fiscal charges on long-term debt 63,335             60,012             33,301             23,157             21,108             18,736             16,479             14,795             
Debt issuance costs -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       
Principal on long-term debt 158,194           323,473           955,540           104,701           106,600           124,426           94,725             75,000             


Total uses of funds 222,263           425,531           1,213,414        136,053           225,046           167,740           112,181           90,780             


 12







Detailed Schedule of Sources, Uses and Status of Funds
From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2021


Project
Plan


2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 Total Estimate


Sources of Funds
Tax increments 259,879$         180,832$         182,466$         174,694$         180,369$         174,190$         2,996,688$      2,808,937$      
Exempt computer aid 2,977               1,708               1,734               1,775               1,775               1,775               61,120             -                       
Personal property aid -                       -                       -                       859                  5,207               9,555               15,621             -                       
Intergovernmental grants -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       89,415             -                       
Contribution from other districts -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       1,405,024        748,088           
Investment income 4,135               10,674             19,058             23,264             5,460               112                  169,745           -                       
Sale of property -                       -                       -                       5,000               39,000             60,212             104,762           -                       
Developer guarantees -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       43,902             -                       
Miscellaneous revenues -                       -                       -                       -                       4,662               4,148               8,810               -                       
Long-term debt issued -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       3,160,750        1,528,137        


Total sources of funds 266,991           193,214           203,258           205,592           236,473           249,992           8,055,837        5,085,162        


Uses of Funds
Capital expenditures -                       -                       -                       39,618             904,311           5,059               2,982,421        1,329,144        
Administration (in-house) 1,500               -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       70,139             27,000             
Professional services: planning, engineering, other 1,383               5,384               5,037               10,100             11,734             15,357             331,027           316,800           
Department of Revenue fees -                       -                       150                  150                  150                  150                  600                  -                       
Revolving loan fund 50,000             -                       -                       65,000             135,000           15,000             265,000           -                       
Contribution to other districts -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       411,821           411,821           1,034,326        
Interest and fiscal charges on long-term debt 12,905             10,483             7,775               4,800               1,625               -                       802,998           849,755           
Debt issuance costs -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       26,075             -                       
Principal on long-term debt 95,000             95,000             95,000             100,000           100,000           -                       3,160,750        1,528,137        


Total uses of funds 160,788           110,867           107,962           219,668           1,152,820        447,387           8,050,831        5,085,162        


Fund balance, December 31, 2021 5,006$             


 13







14 


Independent Auditors' Report on Compliance 


To the City Council of 
City of Stoughton 


We have audited the accompanying Balance Sheet, Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project Revenues 
and Net Cost Recovered Through Tax Increments and the related Historical Summary of Sources, Uses and 
Status of Funds of the City of Stoughton, Wisconsin’s Tax Incremental District No. 4 (District) as of 
December 31, 2021 and from the date the District was created through December 31, 2021 and have issued 
our report thereon dated November 30, 2022. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America.  


In connection with our audit, we noted that the District failed to comply with the following requirements of 
Wisconsin State Statutes Section 66.1105: 


1. Project costs incurred exceeded the total project costs included in the project plan plus 
amendments. 
 


2. The District did not have a second 30% audit completed within 12 months of project plan 
amendment two. 


 
Our audit was not directed primarily toward obtaining knowledge as to whether the District failed to comply 
with Wisconsin State Statutes Section 66.1105, insofar as it relates to accounting matters. Accordingly, had 
we performed additional procedures, other matters may have come to our attention regarding noncompliance 
with the above-referenced statute, insofar as it relates to accounting matters. 


This report is intended solely for the information and use of the committee, management and the overlapping 
taxing districts and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than the specified parties. 


 


Madison, Wisconsin 
November 30, 2022 
 


Baker Tilly US, LLP, trading as Baker Tilly, is a member of the global network of Baker Tilly International Ltd., the members of which 
are separate and independent legal entities. © 2020-2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP








  


City of Stoughton 
Tax Incremental District No. 7 


Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Information 


December 31, 2020 


 
 


 


 







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 7 
Table of Contents 
December 31, 2020 


  


    Page    


Independent Auditors' Report 1 


Financial Statements 


Tax Incremental District No. 7 - Balance Sheet 4 


Tax Incremental District No. 7 - Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project Revenues and 
Net Cost to be Recovered Through Tax Increments 5 


Tax Incremental District No. 7 - Historical Summary of Sources, Uses and Status of Funds 6 


Notes to Financial Statements 7 


Supplementary Information 


Tax Incremental District No. 7 - Detailed Schedule of Sources, Uses and Status of Funds 11 


Independent Auditors' Report on Compliance 12 
 







Independent Auditors' Report


To the City Council of
City of Stoughton


Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements


Opinion


We have audited the accompanying Balance Sheet, Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project Revenues
and Net Cost Recovered Through Tax Increments and Historical Summary of Sources, Uses and Status of
Funds of the City of Stoughton's Tax Incremental District No. 7 (the District) as of December 31, 2020 and from
the date of creation through December 31, 2020, and the related notes to the financial statements.


In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the District and the net project costs recovered through tax increments as of December 31, 2020
and the sources, uses and status of funds from the date of creation through December 31, 2020, in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.


Basis for Opinion


We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America (GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors'
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be
independent of the District and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical
requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.


Emphasis of Matter


As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements present only the transactions of City of Stoughton's Tax
Incremental District No. 7 and do not purport to, and do not, present fairly the financial position of the City of
Stoughton, Wisconsin, as of December 31, 2020, and the changes in financial position, or, where applicable,
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.


Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements


Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; and for the design,
implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.


1


Baker Tilly US, LLP, trading as Baker Tilly, is a member of the global network of Baker Tilly International Ltd., the members of which 
are separate and independent legal entities. © 2020-2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP







Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements


Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when
it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of
internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in
the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial
statements.


In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:


 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.


 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to


fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures


include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial


statements.


 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures


that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the


effectiveness of the District's internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.


 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant


accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the


financial statements.


We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings and certain internal control-related matters that
we identified during the audit.


Required Supplementary Information


Management has omitted the management's discussion and analysis that accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America require to be presented to supplement the financial statements. Such
missing information, although not a part of the financial statements, is required by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the
financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic or historical context. Our opinion on the financial
statements is not affected by this missing information.


Supplementary Information


Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the District's financial statements. The supplementary information as listed in the table of contents is
presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the financial statements. Such
information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements. The information has been subjected to
the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional procedures,
including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records
used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our
opinion, the supplementary information is fairly stated in all material respects, in relation to the financial
statements as a whole.


2







Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements


We have also issued our report dated November 30, 2022 on our tests of its compliance with Wisconsin State
Statutes Section 66.1105. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of compliance and
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on compliance. 


Madison, Wisconsin
November 30, 2022


3







Balance Sheet
December 31, 2020


Capital
Projects


Fund


Assets


Cash and investments 653,977$             
Taxes receivable 762,486               
Accounts receivable 41,106                 


Total assets 1,457,569$          


Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources
and Fund Balance


Liabilities
Accounts payable 3,545$                 


Total liabilities 3,545                   


Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unearned revenue 778,328               


Total deferred inflows of resources 778,328               


Fund Balance
Restricted 675,696               


Total fund balance 675,696               


Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources
and fund balances 1,457,569$          


City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 7


 
See notes to financial statements


4







Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project Revenues and
  Net Cost to be Recovered Through Tax Increments
From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2020  


Project Costs
Capital expenditures 3,233,521$          
Administration (in-house) 33,461                 
Professional services, planning, engineering, other 1,212,838            
Interest and fiscal charges on long-term debt 462,975               
Debt issuance costs 102,678               


Total project costs 5,045,473            


Project Revenues
Tax increments 1,731,044            
Personal property aid 1,959                   
Investment income 30,922                 
Premium on debt 160,820               
Developer guarantees 66,424                 


Total project revenues 1,991,169            


Net cost to be recovered through
  tax increments, December 31, 2020 3,054,304$          


Reconciliation of Recoverable Costs
G.O. debt 3,730,000$          
Less fund balance (675,696)              


 
Net cost to be recovered through
  tax increments, December 31, 2020 3,054,304$          


City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 7


 
See notes to financial statements


5  







Historical Summary of Sources, Uses and Status of Funds
From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2020


Sources of Funds
Tax increments 1,731,044$          
Personal property aid 1,959                   
Investment income 30,922                 
Premium on debt 160,820               
Developer guarantees 66,424                 
Long-term debt issued 8,865,000            


Total sources of funds 10,856,169          


Uses of Funds
Capital expenditures 3,233,521            
Administration (in-house) 33,461                 
Professional services, planning, engineering, other 1,212,838            
Interest and fiscal charges on long-term debt 462,975               
Debt issuance costs 102,678               
Principal on long-term debt 5,135,000            


Total uses of funds 10,180,473          


Fund balance, December 31, 2020 675,696$             


City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 7


 
See notes to financial statements


6







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 7 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2020 
 


7 


1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 


The accounting policies of the City of Stoughton's Tax Incremental District No. 7 (the District) conform to 
accounting principles as applicable to governmental units and as defined by Wisconsin Statutes 
Section 66.1105. 


The City of Stoughton's has implemented accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America to the extent they apply in determining the scope of the activity of Tax Incremental District (TID) 
No. 7. The accompanying financial statements reflect all the significant operations of the City of 
Stoughton's Tax Incremental District No. 7. The accompanying financial statements do not include the full 
presentation of the City of Stoughton. 


Description of Fund Structure and Long-Term Debt 


This report contains the financial information of the City of Stoughton's Tax Incremental District No. 7. 
The summary statements were prepared from data recorded in the following funds and the City's 
long-term debt: 


Capital Projects Fund 


Detailed descriptions of the purpose of these funds and long-term debt can be found in the City of 
Stoughton's basic financial statements. 


The data was consolidated for purposes of this report. Therefore, the amounts shown in the 
accompanying statements will not directly correlate with amounts shown in the basic financial 
statements. 


The District was created under the provisions of Wisconsin Statute Section 66.1105. The purpose of 
that section is to allow a municipality to recover development and improvement costs in a designated 
area from the property taxes generated on the increased value of the property after the creation date 
of the District. The tax on the increased value is called a tax increment. 


The statutes allow the District to collect tax increments until the net project cost has been fully 
recovered, or until 20 years after the creation date, whichever occurs first. Project costs uncollected 
at the dissolution date are absorbed by the City of Stoughton. Project costs may be incurred up to five 
years before the unextended termination date of the District. 


Original Project Plan 


  Creation Date  
Last Date to Incur 


Project Costs  
Last Year to Collect 


Increment 
 


TID No. 7  01/01/2015  11/11/2029 
  


2035 
 


Plan Amendment 


  Adoption Date  
Last Date to Incur 


Project Costs 
 


Amendment #1  05/20/2020  11/11/2029 
 
  







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 7 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2020 
 


8 


Basis of Accounting  


The modified accrual basis of accounting was followed in the preparation of these statements. Under 
the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recorded when susceptible to accrual, i.e., 
both measurable and available. Available means collectible within the current period or soon enough 
thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current period. Project costs, other than interest on long-
term debt, are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred. 


District increments are recorded as revenues in the year due. Intergovernmental aids and grants are 
recognized as revenues in the period the related expenditures are incurred, if applicable, or when the 
District is entitled to the aids.  


Other general revenues are recognized when received in cash or when measurable and available 
under the criteria described above.  


Use of Estimates 


The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements 
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could 
differ from those estimates. 


Measurement Focus 


The measurement focus of all governmental funds is the funds flow concept. Under the funds flow 
concept, sources and uses of financial resources, including capital outlays, debt proceeds and debt 
retirements are reflected in operations. Resources not available to finance expenditures and 
commitments of the current period are recognized as unavailable or unearned revenue or as 
nonspendable fund equity. Liabilities for claims, judgments, compensated absences and pension 
contributions which will not be currently liquidated using expendable available financial resources are 
shown in the long-term debt footnote disclosure. The related expenditures are recognized when the 
liabilities are liquidated. 


Project Plan Budget  


The estimated revenues and expenditures of the District are adopted in the project plan. Those 
estimates are for the entire life of the District, and may not be comparable to interim results presented 
in this report.  


Long-Term Debt 


Short-term liabilities are recorded as fund liabilities. All other long-term liabilities are shown in the 
long-term debt footnote disclosure.  


Proceeds of long-term debt issues not recorded as fund liabilities are reflected as "Sources of Funds" 
in the operating statement of the recipient fund. Retirement of these issues is reported as an 
expenditure in the year in which the debt matures or is repaid, whichever is earlier.  


  







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 7 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2020 
 


9 


Claims and Judgments 


Claims and judgments are recorded as liabilities if all the conditions of Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board pronouncements are met. The liability and expenditure for claims and judgments is 
only reported in governmental funds if it has matured. Claims and judgments are disclosed in the 
long-term debt footnote when the related liabilities are incurred.  


 
2. Cash and Temporary Investments 


The District invests its funds in accordance with the provisions of the Wisconsin Statutes 66.0603(1m) 
and 67.11(2). 


Investments are stated at fair value, which is the amount at which an investment could be exchanged in a 
current transaction between willing parties. Fair values are based on quoted market prices. No 
investments are reported at amortized cost. Adjustments necessary to record investments at fair value 
are recorded in the operating statement as increases or decreases in investment income. 


The District, as a fund of the City of Stoughton maintains separate and common cash and investment 
accounts at the same financial institutions utilized by the City of Stoughton Federal depository insurance 
and the State of Wisconsin Guarantee fund insurance apply to the City of Stoughton as an individual 
municipality and, accordingly, the amount of insured funds is not determinable for the District. 


 
3. Long-Term Debt 


General Obligation Debt 


All general obligation notes and bonds payable are backed by the full faith and credit of City of 
Stoughton. Notes and bonds borrowed to finance the District's expenditures will be retired by tax 
increments accumulated by the District fund. If those revenues are not sufficient, payments will be 
made by future tax levies. 


Title of Issue 
 


Date of Issue  Due Date  
Interest  


Rate  
Original 


Indebtedness  Repaid  
Balance  


12-31-2020 


 
2015 Note Anticipation Notes   10/21/15  Refunded  1.250 %  $ 4,775,000  $ 4,775,000  $ - 


2018 G.O. Bonds   04/26/18  04/01/34  2.00-4.00    4,090,000   360,000   3,730,000 


                 


Total         $ 8,865,000  $ 5,135,000  $ 3,730,000 


 
Aggregate maturities of all long-term debt relating to the District are as follows: 


       
Years  Principal  Interest  Total 


 
2021 $ 215,000  $ 119,725  $ 334,725 
2022 220,000  114,275  334,275 
2023 225,000  107,600  332,600 
2024 235,000  100,700  335,700 
2025 240,000  93,575  333,575 
2026–2030 1,335,000  332,000  1,667,000 
2031–2034 1,260,000  80,988  1,340,988 


Total $ 3,730,000  $ 948,863  $ 4,678,863 


 
  







City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 7 
Notes to Financial Statements 
December 31, 2020 
 


10 


4. Developer Agreement 


The District has entered into a developer agreement where the TID shall reimburse Developer for 
off-site public improvements in the amount of $3,763,230. The City fulfilled its obligation during 2017. 


 
5.  Guaranteed Revenue 


The City of Stoughton TID No. 7 has entered into a development agreement with Kettle Park West, LLC 
(KPW). The agreement guarantees that beginning in calendar year 2018, the actual tax increment will be 
sufficient to fully pay the annual debt service on City borrowing. The Developer shall pay the difference 
between the guaranteed tax increment and the tax increment actually levied. The guarantee obligation 
shall terminate in 2034 or when the TID No. 7 has been terminated, whichever is sooner. TID guarantee 
payments received as of December 31, 2020 totaled $66,424. 


 
6.  Municipal Revenue Obligation 


In 2020, the City of Stoughton issued a municipal revenue obligation as part of a development 
agreement. The amount of the obligation was $3,000,000 and is payable to the developer solely from tax 
increments collected from a specific portion of the development in TID No. 7. Payments are scheduled 
through the year 2035 or when TID No. 7 has been terminated, whichever is sooner, and carry an interest 
rate of 6%. The obligation does not constitute a charge upon any funds of the City. In the event that future 
tax increments are not sufficient to pay off the obligation, the obligation terminates with no further liability 
to the City. Since the amount of future payments is contingent on the collection of future TID increments, 
the obligation is not reported as a liability in the accompanying financial statements. The balance of the 
commitment outstanding at year end was $3,000,000. 


In 2014, the City of Stoughton entered into a similar municipal revenue obligation agreement in the 
amount of $550,000. TID No. 7 paid the entire amount in 2021, which is a subsequent event to the period 
reported in these financial statements.  


 







Detailed Schedule of Sources, Uses and Status of Funds
From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2020


Project
Plan


2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 Total Estimate


Sources of Funds
Tax increments -$                 -$                    242,013$     415,963$     526,673$     546,395$     1,731,044$  18,940,225$    
Personal property aid -                   -                      -                   -                   1,959           -                   1,959           -                       
Investment income 745              10,200            8,449           4,678           4,445           2,405           30,922         -                       
Premium on debt 9,120           -                      -                   151,700       -                   -                   160,820       -                       
Developer guarantees -                   -                      -                   -                   33,510         32,914         66,424         -                       
Long-term debt issued 4,775,000    -                      -                   4,090,000    -                   -                   8,865,000    8,557,264        


Total sources of funds 4,784,865    10,200            250,462       4,662,341    566,587       581,714       10,856,169  27,497,489      


Uses of Funds
Capital expenditures -                   2,493,803       75,684         664,034       -                   -                   3,233,521    14,077,264      
Administration (in-house) -                   -                      23,678         8,833           -                   950              33,461         225,000           
Professional services, planning, engineering, other 384,123       815,366          1,239           1,610           1,000           9,500           1,212,838    -                       
Developer grants -                   -                      -                   -                   -                   -                   -                   550,000           
Interest and fiscal charges on long-term debt -                   -                      116,059       39,792         183,149       123,975       462,975       4,067,961        
Debt issuance costs 45,926         -                      -                   56,752         -                   -                   102,678       20,000             
Principal on long-term debt -                   -                      -                   4,775,000    150,000       210,000       5,135,000    8,557,264        


Total uses of funds 430,049       3,309,169       216,660       5,546,021    334,149       344,425       10,180,473  27,497,489      


Fund balance, December 31, 2020 675,696$     


City of Stoughton Tax Incremental District No. 7


 11







12 


Independent Auditors' Report on Compliance 


To the City Council of 
City of Stoughton 


We have audited the accompanying Balance Sheet, Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project Revenues 
and Net Cost to be Recovered Through Tax Increments and the related Historical Summary of Sources, Uses 
and Status of Funds of the City of Stoughton, Wisconsin’s Tax Incremental District No. 7 (District) as of 
December 31, 2020 and from the date the District was created through December 31, 2020 and have issued 
our report thereon dated November 30, 2022. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America.  


In connection with our audit, we noted that the District failed to comply with the following requirements of 
Wisconsin State Statutes Section 66.1105:  


1.  At the time of the creation of the District, the City did not send a copy of the public hearing 
notice to the local government entities prior to the first insertion. It was sent after the first 
insertion of the class 2 notice for public hearing.  
 


2.  The city council resolution approving amendment 1 did not contain a finding that the plan is 
feasible and in conformity with the master plan of the municipality.   
 


3.  The City did not conduct the required 30% audit within 12 months of original project plan 
expenditures. 


 
Our audit was not directed primarily toward obtaining knowledge as to whether the District failed to comply with 
Wisconsin State Statutes Section 66.1105, insofar as it relates to accounting matters. Accordingly, had we 
performed additional procedures, other matters may have come to our attention regarding noncompliance with 
the above-referenced statute, insofar as it relates to accounting matters. 


This report is intended solely for the information and use of the City Council, management and the overlapping 
taxing districts and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than the specified parties. 


 


Madison, Wisconsin 
November 30, 2022 
 
 


Baker Tilly US, LLP, trading as Baker Tilly, is a member of the global network of Baker Tilly International Ltd., the members of which 
are separate and independent legal entities. © 2020-2022 Baker Tilly US, LLP









